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PART I
Forward-Looking Statements
This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains “forward looking statements” within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities
Act”) and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”). These forward looking statements relate to future events or our future financial
performance and involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors that may cause our or our industry’s actual results, levels of activity, performance or
achievements to be materially different from any future results, levels of activity, performance or achievements expressed or implied by the forward-looking statements. Many of
these factors are beyond our ability to predict. Given the risks and uncertainties surrounding forward-looking statements, you should not place undue reliance on these
statements. Forward-looking statements typically are identified by use of terms such as “anticipate”, “believe”, “plan”, “expect”, “intend”, “may”, “will”, “should”, “estimate”,
“predict”, “potential”, “continue” and similar words although some forward-looking statements are expressed differently. This Report may contain forward-looking statements
attributed to third parties relating to their estimates regarding the growth of our markets. You are cautioned that such forward looking statements are not guarantees of future
performance and that all forward-looking statements address matters that involve risk and uncertainties, and there are many important risks, uncertainties and other factors that
could cause our actual results, levels of activity, performance, achievements and prospects, as well as those of the markets we serve, to differ materially from the forward-looking
statements contained in this Report.
Such risks and uncertainties include, but are not limited to:
·

The ability of our management to successfully implement our business plan and strategy;

·

Our ability to fund our operations including the cost and availability of capital and credit;

·

Our ability to compete effectively, including our ability to maintain and increase our markets and/or market share in the markets in which we do business;

·

Our dependence on sales from our main product, Cold-EEZEÒ, and our ability to successfully develop and commercialize new products;

·

The uncertain length and severity of the current general financial and economic downturn, the timing and strength of an economic recovery, if any, and their
impacts on our business including demand for our products;

·

Our ability to protect our proprietary rights;

·

Our continued ability to comply with regulations relating to our current products and any new products we develop, including our ability to effectively respond to
changes in laws and regulations or the interpretation thereof including changing market rules and evolving federal, state and regional laws and regulations;

·

Potential disruptions in our ability to manufacture our products or our access to raw materials;

·

Seasonal fluctuations in demand for our products;

·

Our ability to attract, retain and motivate key employees;

·

The ability of Phusion Laboratories, LLC, a 50% owned joint venture (see below for further details), to successfully implement its business plan and strategy to
develop and commercialize one or more non-prescription remedies using certain patented and proprietary technology; and

·

Other risks identified in this Report.
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You should also consider carefully the statements under other sections of this Report, including the Risk Factors included in Item 1A, which address additional risks that
could cause our actual results to differ from those set forth in any forward-looking statements. Our forward-looking statements speak only as the date of this Report. We
undertake no obligation to publicly update or review any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future developments or otherwise.
Where You Can Find Other Information
ProPhase Labs, Inc (“we”, “us” or the “Company”) files periodic and current reports, proxy statements and other information with the Securities and Exchange
Commission (the “SEC”). We make available on our website ( www.ProPhaseLabs.com) free of charge our Annual Reports on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q,
Current Reports on Form 8-K and any amendments to or exhibits included in those reports as soon as reasonably practical after we electronically file such materials with or furnish
them to the SEC. Information appearing on our website is not part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. You can also read and copy any materials we file with the SEC at the
SEC’s Public Reference Room at 100 F Street, NE, Washington D.C. 20549-1004. You may request copies of these documents, upon payment of a duplication fee, by writing the
SEC at its principal office at 100 F Street, NE Room 1580, Washington, D.C. 20549-1004. In addition, the SEC maintains an Internet site (www.sec.gov) that contains reports,
proxy and information statements regarding issuers that file electronically with the SEC, including the Company.
Item 1. Business
General Development of Business
We are a manufacturer, marketer and distributor of a diversified range of homeopathic and health products that are offered to the general public. We are also engaged in
the research and development of potential over-the-counter (“OTC”) drug, natural base health products along with supplements, personal care and cosmeceutical products.
Our primary business is currently the manufacture, distribution, marketing and sale of OTC cold remedy products to consumers through national chain, regional, specialty
and local retail stores. One of our principal products is Cold-EEZEÒ, a zinc gluconate glycine product proven in clinical studies to reduce the duration and severity of the common
cold symptoms by nearly half. Cold-EEZE Ò is an established product in the health care and cold remedy market. For 2010, 2009 and 2008, our revenues from continuing
operations have come principally from our OTC cold remedy products.
We use a December 31 year-end for financial reporting purposes. References herein to the fiscal year ended December 31, 2010 shall be the term “Fiscal 2010” and
references to other “Fiscal” years shall mean the year, which ended on December 31 of the year indicated.
On May 5, 2010, our shareholders approved, among other corporate matters, the Board of Directors’ proposal to change our name to ProPhase Labs, Inc. from The
Quigley Corporation.
We are a corporation organized in Nevada in July 1989. Our principal executive offices are located at 621 N. Shady Retreat Road, Doylestown, Pennsylvania 18901 and
our telephone number is 215-345-0919. The terms, we, us and the Company refer to the Company together with its consolidated subsidiaries unless the context otherwise requires.
Recent Developments
Joint Venture – Phusion Laboratories, LLC
On March 22, 2010, the Company, Phosphagenics Limited (“PSI Parent”), an Australian corporation, Phosphagenics Inc. (“PSI”), a Delaware corporation and subsidiary
of PSI Parent, and Phusion Laboratories, LLC (the “Joint Venture”), a Delaware limited liability company, entered into a Limited Liability Company Agreement (the “LLC
Agreement”) of the Joint Venture and additional related agreements for the purpose of developing and commercializing, for worldwide distribution and sale, a wide range of nonprescription remedies using PSI Parent’s proprietary patented TPM™ technology (“TPM”). TPM facilitates the delivery and depth of penetration of active molecules in
pharmaceutical, nutraceutical, and other products. Pursuant to the LLC Agreement, we and PSI each own a 50% membership interest in the Joint Venture.
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In connection with the LLC Agreement, PSI Parent granted to us, pursuant to the terms of a License Agreement, dated March 22, 2010 (the “Original License
Agreement”), (i) an exclusive, royalty-free, world-wide (subject to certain limitations), paid-up license to exploit OTC drugs (and certain other products) that embody certain of
PSI Parent’s TPM-related patents and related know-how (collectively, the “PSI Technology”) and (ii) a non-exclusive, royalty-free, world-wide (subject to certain limitations) paidup license to exploit certain compounds that embody the PSI Technology for use in a product combining one or more of such compounds with an OTC drug or in a product that is
part of a regimen that includes the application of an OTC drug.
Pursuant to the Original License Agreement, we issued 1,440,000 shares of our $0.0005 par value common stock (“Common Stock”) having an aggregate value of
approximately $2.6 million to PSI Parent (such shares, the “PSI Shares”), and made a one-time payment to PSI Parent of $1.0 million. In accordance with a Contribution
Agreement, dated March 22, 2010 (the “Contribution Agreement”), by and among us, PSI Parent, PSI, and the Joint Venture, we transferred, conveyed and assigned to the Joint
Venture all of our rights, title and interest in, to and under the Original License Agreement, and the Joint Venture assumed, and undertook to pay, discharge and perform when due,
all of our liabilities and obligations under and arising pursuant to the Original License Agreement (such actions, collectively, the “Assignment and Assumption”).
PSI Parent will conduct and oversee much of the product development, formulation, testing and other research and development needed by the Joint Venture, and we will
oversee much of the production, distribution, sales and marketing. The LLC Agreement provides that each member may be required, from time to time and subject to certain
limitations, to make capital contributions to the Joint Venture to fund its operations, in accordance with agreed upon budgets for products to be developed. Specifically, in Fiscal
2010 we contributed $500,000 of initial capital. In addition, we are committed to fund up to $2.0 million, subject to agreed upon budgets (which have not yet been formally
established), toward the initial development and marketing costs of new products for the Joint Venture. In Fiscal 2010, the newly formed Joint Venture incurred a loss of
$77,000. The Joint Venture has not engaged in any financial transactions, other than certain organizational expenses and general market and product analysis, as formal operations
are not expected to commence until Fiscal 2011. At December 31, 2010, cash and equivalents includes $425,000 related to the Joint Venture which is expected to be used by the
Joint Venture to fund future product development initiatives currently under consideration by PSI Parent, PSI and us. As of December 31, 2010, we have not established a formal
commercialization program timeline for any specific OTC drug covered under the product license and we do not project that any OTC drug products will be available for shipment
within the next twelve months.
Description of Business Operations
Cold-EEZE Ò is one of our key OTC cold remedy products whose benefits are derived from its proprietary zinc formulation. The product’s effectiveness has been
substantiated in two double-blind clinical studies proving that Cold-EEZEÒ reduces the duration and severity of the common cold symptoms by nearly half. The Cold-EEZEÒ
product line is based upon a proprietary zinc gluconate glycine formula. We acquired worldwide manufacturing and distribution rights to this formulation in 1992 and commenced
national marketing in 1996. The demand for our OTC cold remedy products is seasonal, where the third and fourth quarters of each year generally having the largest sales volume.
Since June 1996, our continuing business operations have concentrated on the manufacturing, marketing and development of our proprietary Cold-EEZEÒ cold-remedy
lozenge products and on development of various product extensions. Our product line of OTC cold remedy products are reviewed regularly to identify new consumer
opportunities and/or trends in flavor, convenience, packaging and delivery systems or forms to help improve market share for our products. Additionally, we are active in
exploring new product technologies, applications, product line extensions and other new product opportunities consistent with our brand image and standard of proven consumer
benefit and efficacy.
Manufacturing Facility
Our wholly owned subsidiary, Pharmaloz Manufacturing, Inc. (“PMI”), produces our Cold-EEZE® and other lozenge products along with performing such operational
tasks as warehousing and shipping our Cold-EEZE® and other OTC cold remedy products. PMI is located in Lebanon, Pennsylvania. Additionally, PMI maintains a United States
Food and Drug Administration (“FDA”) registered facility that engages in contract manufacturing and distribution activities of lozenge-based products for unaffiliated third
parties. PMI also produces and sells therapeutic lozenges to wholesale and distribution outlets.
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Discontinued Operations
On February 29, 2008, we sold our wholly owned subsidiary, Darius International, Inc. (“Darius”), our former health and wellness segment, to InnerLight Holdings, Inc.
(“InnerLight”). On February 29, 2008, Mr. Kevin P. Brogan, the then president of Darius was a significant shareholder of InnerLight. In addition, Mr. Gary Quigley, then an
employee of the Company (as well as a shareholder) and the brother of Mr. Guy Quigley, the Company’s then Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer (as well as a
shareholder), became a significant shareholder of Innerlight either before or shortly after the sale of Darius. Mr. Gary Quigley was also a principal of Scandasystems, Ltd.
(“Scandasystems”), which entered into an agreement to receive royalties from Innerlight. The results and balances associated with Darius are presented as discontinued operations
in our consolidated statements of operations (see Note 14 to Consolidated Financial Statements).
For Fiscal 2010 and 2009, our net sales for each period were related to markets in the United States.
Products
OTC Cold-Remedy Products
In May 1992, we entered into an exclusive agreement for worldwide representation, manufacturing and marketing of Cold-EEZE® products in the United States. ColdEEZE®, a zinc gluconate glycine formulation (ZIGG™), is an OTC consumer product used to reduce the duration and severity of the common cold and is available in lozenge and
sugar-free tablet form. We have substantiated the effectiveness of Cold-EEZE ® through a variety of studies. A randomized double-blind placebo-controlled study, conducted at
Dartmouth College of Health Science, Hanover, New Hampshire, concluded that the lozenge formulation treatment, initiated within 48 hours of symptom onset, resulted in a
significant reduction in the total duration of the common cold.
On May 22, 1992, “Zinc and the Common Cold, a Controlled Clinical Study,” was published in England in theJournal of International Medical Research, Volume 20,
Number 3, Pages 234-246. According to this publication, (a) flavorings used in other Zinc lozenge products (citrate, tartrate, separate, orotate, picolinate, mannitol or sorbitol)
render the Zinc inactive and unavailable to the patient’s nasal passages, mouth and throat where cold symptoms have to be treated, (b) this patented formulation delivers
approximately 93% of the active Zinc to the mucosal surfaces and (c) the patient has the same sequence of symptoms as in the absence of treatment but goes through the phases at
an accelerated rate and with reduced symptom severity.
On July 15, 1996, results of a new randomized double-blind placebo-controlled study on the common cold, which commenced at the Cleveland Clinic Foundation on
October 3, 1994, were published. The study “Zinc Gluconate Lozenges for Treating the Common Cold” was completed and published in The Annals of Internal Medicine –
Volume 125 Number 2. Using a 13.3mg lozenge (almost half the strength of the lozenge used in the Dartmouth study), the result still showed a 42% reduction in the duration of
common cold symptoms.
In April 2002, we announced the statistical results of a retrospective clinical adolescent study at the Heritage School facility in Provo, Utah that suggests that ColdEEZE® is also an effective means of preventing the common cold and statistically (a) lessens the number of colds an individual suffers per year, reducing the median from 1.5 to
zero and (b) reduces the use of antibiotics for respiratory illnesses from 39.3% to 3.0% when Cold-EEZE® is administered as a first line treatment approach to the common cold.
In May 2003, we announced the findings of a prospective study, conducted at the Heritage School facility in Provo, Utah, in which 178 children, ages 12 to 18 years, were
given Cold-EEZE® lozenges both symptomatically and prophylactically from October 5, 2001 to May 30, 2002. The study found a 54% reduction in the most frequently observed
cold duration. Those subjects not receiving treatment most frequently experienced symptom duration of 11 days compared with 5 days when Cold-EEZE® lozenges were
administered, a reduction of 6 days.
In addition to Cold-EEZE ®, we market and distribute Kids-EEZE® Chest Relief, Kids-EEZE® Cough Cold and Kids-EEZE® Allergy children OTC cold remedies (“KidsEEZE® Products”). The Kids-EEZE ® Products are for children suffering upper respiratory infections, allergy and/or chest congestion. Kids-EEZE® Products are based upon
specific OTC monographs and provide single source, symptom relief through a uniquely formulated soft chew that is good-tasting, provides an accurate dose and is convenient-touse. We introduced Kids-EEZE ® Chest Relief in Fiscal 2008 and expanded the product line to include Kids-EEZE® Cough Cold and Kids-EEZE® Allergy in Fiscal 2010. We
also manufacture, market and distribute an organic cough drop and a Vitamin C supplement (“Organix”) and perform contract manufacturing services of cough drop and other
OTC cold remedy products for third parties.
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Our business is subject to federal and state health and safety laws and regulations. Our OTC cold remedies are subject to regulations by various federal, state and local
agencies, including the United States Food and Drug Administration (“FDA”). Additionally, Cold-EEZE®, a homeopathic remedy is subject to the Homeopathic Pharmacopoeia of
the United States. See “Regulatory Matters” below for more information.
Patents, Trademarks, Royalty and Commission Agreements
We do not currently own patents for our OTC cold-remedy products. We maintain various trademarks for each of our products including Cold-EEZE®, Kids-EEZE® and
Organix ®.
We currently own various domestic and international patents covering certain product development initiatives principally developed under the now suspended Pharma
operations. To date, we have not realized any meaningful levels of revenues from such patents and we have suspended further commercialization efforts for various products under
such patents.
The Cold-EEZE® products are marketed by us in accordance with the terms of a licensing agreement (between us and the developer). The contract is assignable by us
with the developer’s consent. In return for exclusive distribution rights, we agreed to pay the developer a 3% royalty and a 2% consulting fee based on sales collected, less certain
deductions, during the term of this agreement, which expired in Fiscal 2007. However, we and the developer are in litigation and as such no potential offset for these fees from
such litigation has been recorded (see Item 3. Legal Proceedings).
Product Distribution and Customers
Our products are distributed through numerous national chain, regional, specialty and local retail stores throughout the United States. The loss of sales to any one or more
of these large retail customers could have a material adverse effect on our business operations and financial condition. Revenues for Fiscal 2010, Fiscal 2009 and Fiscal 2008 were
$14.5 million, $19.8 million and $20.5 million, respectively. Walgreen Company (“Walgreens”), Wal-Mart Stores, Inc. (“Wal-Mart”) and Rite-Aid Corp. accounted for
approximately 23%, 14% and 10%, respectively, of our revenues for Fiscal 2010. CVS Caremark Corporation (“CVS”), Walgreens and Wal-Mart accounted for approximately
15%, 15% and 13%, respectively, of our revenues for Fiscal 2009 and Walgreens and Wal-Mart accounted for approximately 14% and 14%, respectively, of our revenues for Fiscal
2008.
In addition, we have several national Broker, Distributor and Representative Agreements which provide for commission compensation based on sales performance.
Research and Development
We have historically invested significantly in research and development activities. Our research and development costs for Fiscal 2010, 2009 and 2008 were $794,000,
$1.3 million and $4.2 million, respectively.
During Fiscal 2010, our research and development initiatives have been principally focused on product line development and/or line extensions for OTC cold remedy
products under the Cold-EEZE® and Kids-EEZE® brands. In addition, our newly formed Joint Venture is at its early stage of development where product and market research has
been initiated and new product initiatives are being evaluated and prioritized for future development and commercialization utilizing the licensed PSI Technology. Through the
Joint Venture, PSI Parent will conduct and oversee much of the product development, formulation, testing and other research and development needed by the Joint Venture, and we
will oversee much of the production, distribution, sales and marketing.
During Fiscal 2009 and Fiscal 2008, our current research and development activity was principally focused on potential natural base health products including compounds
QR-333 (potential topical symptomatic relief of diabetic peripheral neuropathy), QR-440 (potential relief of inflammation and joint pain), and QR-448 (potential anti-infective
against infectious bronchitis in poultry) via our Quigley Pharma subsidiary. In Fiscal 2009 as part of our continuing efforts to focus on products and projects that are believed to be
likely to generate sustainable profits, we examined the commercial viability of our QR-333 compound for diabetic neuropathy treatment and our QR-448(a) veterinary drug
compound. There are no third parties who have expressed a current interest or willingness to co-develop, license or otherwise commercially exploit these compounds. As a
consequence, (i) we are not expending any significant additional sums on developing any formulations in the Quigley Pharma subsidiary, (ii) we have suspended Quigley Pharma’s
operations and (iii) we are not making any further investments in Quigley Pharma.
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Currently, we fund our research and development costs with cash generated from operations. In addition to funding from operations, we may seek to raise capital through
the issuance of securities or to other financing sources to support our research and development activities including new product technologies, applications, licensing,
commercialization and other development opportunities, as well as acquisitions of new formulations, ingredients, applications and other products, including those products, if any,
that may be developed through the Joint Venture. Any such funding through the issuance of our equity securities would result in the dilution of current stockholder
ownership. Should research or commercialization activity progress on certain formulations, resulting expenditures may require substantial financial support and may necessitate
the consideration of alternative approaches such as licensing, joint venture or partnership arrangements that meet our long term goals and objectives. Ultimately, should internal
working capital be insufficient and external funding methods or other business arrangements become unattainable, it could result in the deferral or loss of future growth and
development opportunities.
Regulatory Matters
We are subject to federal and state laws and regulations adopted for the health and safety of users of pharmaceutical and health care products. Our OTC cold remedy
products are subject to regulation by various federal, state, and local agencies, including the FDA. In addition, our Cold-EEZE® product is subject to the standards established by
the Homeopathic Pharmacopoeia of the United States. These regulatory authorities have broad powers, and we may be subject to regulatory and legislative changes that can affect
the economics of the industry by requiring changes in operating practices or by influencing the demand for and the costs of manufacturing or distributing its products. Our ColdEEZE® product is considered a homeopathic drug and is exempt from pre-approval requirements and other, but not all, FDA requirements. Many homeopathic drug products,
including Cold-EEZEÒ, are manufactured and distributed under FDA enforcement policies that provide criteria needed to market a homeopathic OTC drug product without FDA
approval. We believe we meet those requirements, which include registration of our manufacturing facility, listing of the product in FDA’s product database, and packaging,
labeling, and manufacturing homeopathic drugs in compliance with current good manufacturing practice (“cGMP”) regulations. Due to the unique nature of homeopathic drug
products, some cGMP requirements are not applicable, including expiration dating, and testing and release for distribution. In addition, the FDA is currently not enforcing the
requirement for a laboratory determination of identity and strength of each active ingredient prior to release for distribution, although this exemption is pending FDA review and
we cannot assure that the exemption will be permanently implemented. We also cannot assure that the FDA will agree with our determination of compliance. If the FDA
disagrees, the FDA could, upon inspection, issue a notice of violations, referred to as a form FDA-483, or issue a Warning Letter, or both. If we fail to take timely corrective
actions to the satisfaction of FDA, the agency can initiate legal actions, such as seizure and injunction, which could include a recall order or the entry of a consent decree, or
both. In addition, we could be subject to monetary penalties and even criminal prosecution for egregious conduct. Management believes that we are in compliance with all such
laws, regulations, and standards currently in effect including the Food, Drug, and Cosmetics Act as amended from time to time, and the standards established under the
Homeopathic Pharmacopoeia of the United States.
Pre-clinical development, clinical trials, product manufacturing, labeling, marketing, distribution and licensing and/or acquisition of potential new products are also
generally subject to federal and state regulation in the United States and other countries. Obtaining FDA and any other required regulatory approval for certain OTC products, or
seeking the issuance of a final monograph from the FDA for certain OTC products, can require substantial resources and take several years. The length of this process depends on
the type, complexity and novelty of the product and the nature of the disease or other indications to be treated. If we cannot obtain regulatory approval of, or final OTC monograph
for, a new product(s) in a timely manner or if patents are not granted or are subsequently challenged, it could have a material adverse effect on our business and financial condition.
Competition
We compete with other suppliers of OTC cold-remedy products. These suppliers range widely in size. Some of our competitors have significantly greater financial,
technical or marketing resources than we do. Management believes that our Cold-EEZE® product, which has been clinically proven in two double-blind studies to reduce the
severity and duration of common cold symptoms, offers a significant advantage over many of our competitors in the OTC cold remedy market. We believe that our ability to
compete depends on a number of factors, including product quality and price, availability, speed to market, consumer marketing, reliability, credit terms, brand name recognition,
delivery time and post-sale service and support.
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Employees
At December 31, 2010, we employed 44 full-time and 1 part-time employees, the majority of which were employed at our manufacturing facility in a production
function. The remaining employees were involved in an executive, marketing or administrative capacity. None of our employees are covered by a collective bargaining agreement
or are members of a union.
Suppliers; Raw Materials
We derive our sales principally from our Cold-EEZEÒ zinc gluconate glycine lozenge product which is available in various flavors for purchase by consumers at retail
stores. We also produce zinc private label lozenge products for sale to certain retail customers. Our zinc lozenge products are manufactured principally by PMI. The constituent
raw materials and packaging used in the manufacture and presentation of these items are procured from various sources with additional suppliers having been identified in the event
that alternatives are required. While the absence of a current raw materials or packaging source may cause short term interruption, identified alternative sources would fill our
needs in a short time and any transition period would be mitigated by adequate levels of finished product available for sale. Certain products within our line of products such as
Cold-EEZEÒ Sugarfree tablets and Kids-EEZE Ò are manufactured for us by third party contract manufacturers and while currently purchased from single sources do not constitute
a material revenue risk to us if product availability was jeopardized.
Item1A.

Risk Factors

Any of the following risks could materially affect our business, financial condition, or results of operations. These risks could also cause our actual results to differ
materially from those indicated in the forward-looking statements contained herein and elsewhere. The risks described below are not the only risks facing us. Additional risks not
currently known to us or those we currently deem to be immaterial may also materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition or results of operations.
Our business is subject to significant competitive pressures
The OTC healthcare product, pharmaceutical and consumer product industries are highly competitive. Many of our competitors have substantially greater capital
resources, technical staffs, facilities, marketing resources, product development, distribution and experience than we do. As a consequence, our competitors may have certain
advantages, including the ability to allocate greater resources for new product development, marketing and other purposes.
We believe that our ability to compete depends on a number of factors, including product quality and price, availability, speed to market, consumer marketing, reliability,
credit terms, brand name recognition, delivery time and post-sale service and support, and new and existing product innovation and commercialization. There can be no assurance
that we will be able to compete successfully in the future. If we are unable to compete effectively, our earnings may be significantly negatively impacted.
We have aligned our operations to focus principally in the research, development, manufacture, marketing and sale of OTC cold remedy and consumer products, natural
base health products and other supplements and cosmeceuticals products. In addition, we may seek to acquire from third parties or enter into other arrangements with respect to
new formulations, ingredients, applications and other products developed by third parties who may be seeking our commercialization, marketing and distribution expertise.
There can be no assurance that we will be able to effectuate this business plan successfully or that revenue growth will occur once the plan is effected. In addition, we
may not be successful in acquiring or otherwise entering into any new lines of business and, if we are successful in doing so, there can be no assurance that such new business will
achieve profitability.
We will need to obtain additional capital to support long term product development and commercialization programs
Our ability to achieve and sustain operating profitability depends in large part on our ability to commence, execute and complete new and existing product innovation and
commercialization, including the Joint Venture product development initiatives, and, if required, clinical programs to obtain regulatory approvals in the United States and
elsewhere. We can give no assurance that we will be able to achieve such product innovation and commercialization, to obtain any required approvals or to achieve significant
levels of sales.
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Should research or commercialization activity progress on certain formulations, resulting expenditures may require substantial financial support. The current sales levels
of OTC cold remedy products may not generate all the funds we anticipate will be needed to support future product acquisition or development. Accordingly, in addition to
funding from operations, we may in the short and long term seek to raise capital through the issuance of securities or to secure other financing sources to support our research, new
product technologies, applications, licensing, commercialization and other development opportunities. If we obtain such funding through the issuance of equity securities, it would
result in the dilution of current stockholders’ ownership in the Company. Any debt financing, if available, may include financial and other covenants that could restrict use of
proceeds of such financing or impose other business and financial restrictions on us. In addition, we may consider alternative approaches such as, licensing, joint venture, or
partnership arrangements that meet our long term goals and objectives.
The amount of capital that may be needed to complete product development initiatives will depend on many factors which may include but are not limited to (i) the cost
involved in applying for and obtaining FDA, international regulatory or other technical approvals, (ii) whether we elect to establish partnering arrangements for development, sales,
manufacturing and marketing of such products, (iii) the level of future sales of OTC cold remedy products, and expense levels for marketing efforts, (iv) whether we can establish
and maintain strategic arrangements for development, sales, manufacturing and marketing of our products, and (v) whether any or all of the options for our Common Stock issued
to employees of the Company are exercised and the timing and amount of these exercises.
We may not be able to commercialize new products through our Joint Venture
The Joint Venture is at its early stage of development where product and market research has been initiated and new product initiatives are being evaluated and prioritized
for future development and commercialization. Prior to any new product being available for sale, substantial resources will have to be committed to commercialize a product
which may include research, development, preclinical testing, clinical trials, manufacturing scale-up and regulatory approval.
We face significant technological risks inherent in developing these products. The Joint Venture may be subject to delays and/or ultimately unable to successfully
implement its business plan and strategy to develop and commercialize one or more non-prescription remedies using certain patented and proprietary TPMTM that exploit certain
compounds that embody the TPMTM for use in a product combining one or more of such compounds with an OTC drug. The commercialization and ultimate product market
acceptance is subject to, among other influences, consumer purchasing trends, demand for our OTC drug, health and wellness trends, regulatory factors, retail acceptance and
overall economic and market conditions. As a consequence, we may suspend or abandon some or all of our proposed new products before they become commercially
viable. Even if we develop and obtain approval of a new product, if we cannot successfully commercialize it in a timely manner, our business and financial condition may be
materially adversely affected.
Instability and volatility in the financial markets could have a negative impact on our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows
During Fiscal 2008 through 2010, there has been substantial volatility in financial markets due at least in part to the global economic environment. In addition, there has
been substantial uncertainty in the capital markets and access to financing is uncertain. Moreover, customer spending habits may be adversely affected by the current economic
recession and prevailing high unemployment rates in the United States. These conditions could have an adverse effect on our industry and business, including our access to
funding sources, demand for our products and our customers’ ability to continue to purchase our products, which could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition,
results of operations and cash flows.
To the extent that we do not generate sufficient cash from operations, we may need to issue equity or to incur indebtedness to finance our growth. Recent turmoil and
volatility in the credit markets and the potential impact on the liquidity of major financial institutions may have an adverse effect on our ability to fund our business strategy
through borrowings, under either existing or newly created instruments in the public or private markets on terms that we believe to be reasonable, or at all.
-9-

The sales of our primary product fluctuates by season and from Cold Season to Cold Season
Our sales are derived principally from our OTC cold remedy products. As a consequence, a significant portion of our business is highly seasonal, which causes major
variations in operating results from quarter to quarter. The third and fourth quarters generally represent the largest sales volume for our OTC cold remedy products. In addition,
our sales are influenced by and subject to fluctuations in the timing of purchase and the ultimate level of demand for our products which are a function of the timing, length and
severity of each cold season. Generally, a cold season is defined as the period of September to March (“Cold Season”) when the incidence of the common cold rises as a
consequence of the change in weather and other factors.
There can be no assurance that we will be able to manage our working capital needs and inventory to meet the fluctuating demand for these products. Failure to
accurately predict and respond to consumer demand may result in the production of excess inventory which may be expensive to store or which we may be required to dispose if
such excess inventory remains unsold. Conversely, if products achieve greater success than anticipated for any given quarter, this may result in insufficient inventory to meet
customer demand.
Our performance may fluctuate when our retail customers are affected simultaneously by the same economic, regulatory or health and wellness factors
Our revenues are significantly concentrated in OTC cold remedy products. Our retail customers are subject to fluctuations of business based upon consumer purchasing
trends, demand for cold remedy products and overall economic and market conditions. Consequently, many retailers will likely be influenced at the same time by similar economic
conditions, regulatory factors or health and wellness trends, which can affect the level of demand for our products. It is reasonable to expect that, if one retailer reduces or delays
its purchasing in response to a general economic, regulatory or health and wellness factor, other retailers may also decide to reduce or delay their purchasing at approximately the
same time. Accordingly, our sales are subject to fluctuations as a result of such factors.
We have a concentration of sales to and accounts receivable from several large retail customers
Although we have a broad range of retail customers that includes many large wholesalers, mass merchandisers and multiple outlet pharmacy and food chains, our five
largest customers account for a significant percentage of our sales – 61% and 56% of total sales for Fiscal 2010 and 2009, respectively. In addition, retail customers comprising
the five largest accounts receivable balances represented 51% and 66% of total accounts receivable balances at December 31, 2010 and 2009, respectively. We extend credit to
retail customers based upon an evaluation of their financial condition and credit history, and collateral is not generally required. If one or more of these large retail customers
cannot pay, the write-off of their accounts receivable could have a material adverse effect on our operations and financial condition. The loss of sales to any one or more of these
large retail customers would also have a material adverse effect on our financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.
Our future success depends on the continued sales of our principal product
For Fiscal 2010 and 2009, our cold remedy products, principally Cold-EEZE®, represented approximately 96% and 92%, respectively, of our total sales. Accordingly, we
depend on the continued acceptance of Cold-EEZE® products by our customers. However, there can be no assurance that Cold-EEZE® products will continue to receive or
maintain market acceptance. The inability to successfully commercialize Cold-EEZE® in the future, for any reason, would have a material adverse effect on our financial
condition, prospects and ability to continue operations.
Our products and potential new products are or may be subject to extensive governmental regulation
Our business is regulated by various agencies of the states and localities where our products are sold. Governmental regulations in foreign countries where we plan to
commence or expand sales may prevent or delay entry into a market or prevent or delay the introduction, or require the reformulation of certain of our products. In addition, no
prediction can be made as to whether new domestic or foreign legislation regulating our activities will be enacted. Any new legislation could have a material adverse effect on our
business, financial condition and operations. Non-compliance with any applicable requirements may subject us or the manufacturers of our products to agency action, including
warning letters, fines, product recalls, seizures and injunctions.
The manufacturing, processing, formulation, packaging, labeling and advertising of our cold remedy products are subject to regulation by several federal agencies,
including (i) the FDA, (ii) the Federal Trade Commission (“FTC”), (iii) the Consumer Product Safety Commission, (iv) the United States Department of Agriculture, (v) the
United States Postal Service, (vi) the United States Environmental Protection Agency and (vii) the United States Occupational Safety and Health Administration.
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In addition to OTC and prescription drug products, the FDA regulates the safety, manufacturing, labeling and distribution of dietary supplements, including vitamins,
minerals and herbs, food additives, food supplements, over-the-counter and prescription drugs and cosmetics. The FTC also has overlapping jurisdiction with the FDA to regulate
the promotion and advertising of vitamins, over-the-counter drugs, cosmetics and foods. In addition, our cold remedy products are homeopathic remedies which are subject to
standards established by the Homeopathic Pharmacopoeia of the United States (“HPUS”). HPUS sets the standards for source, composition and preparation of homeopathic
remedies which are officially recognized under the Federal Food, Drug and Cosmetics Act, as amended.
Preclinical development, clinical trials, product manufacturing, labeling, distribution and marketing of potential new products are also subject to federal and state
regulation in the United States and other countries. Clinical trials and product marketing and manufacturing are subject to the rigorous review and approval processes of the FDA
and foreign regulatory authorities. To obtain approval of a new drug product, a company must demonstrate through adequate and well-controlled clinical trials that the drug
product is safe and effective for its intended use. Obtaining FDA and other required regulatory approvals is lengthy and expensive. Typically, obtaining regulatory approval for
pharmaceutical products requires substantial resources and takes several years. The length of this process depends on the type, complexity and novelty of the product and the
nature of the disease or other indication to be treated. Preclinical studies must comply with FDA regulations. Clinical trials must also comply with FDA regulations to ensure
safety of the human subjects in the trial and may require large numbers of test subjects, complex protocols and possibly lengthy follow-up periods. Consequently, satisfaction of
government regulations may take several years, may cause delays in introducing potential new products for considerable periods of time and may require imposing costly
procedures upon our activities. If regulatory approval of new products is not obtained in a timely manner or not at all, we could be materially adversely affected. Even if
regulatory approval of new products is obtained, such approval may impose limitations on the indicated uses for which the products may be marketed which could also materially
adversely affect our business, financial condition and future operations.
We have a history of losses and limited working capital
We have experienced net losses and declining sales for each of the past four fiscal years. As a consequence, we have aligned our operations in Fiscal 2010 to focus
principally in the research, development, manufacture, marketing and sale of OTC cold remedy and consumer products, natural base health products and other supplements and
cosmeceuticals products.
There can be no assurance that this strategic focus will provide any revenue growth or that we will be successful in initiating or acquiring any new lines of business, or
that any such new lines of business will achieve profitability. Furthermore as part of our strategic initiatives, we have implemented certain cost reduction programs and expanded
our marketing investments during Fiscal 2010 that, in of themselves, may not be sufficient to return the Company to profitability. As of December 31, 2010, we had working
capital of approximately $7.5 million.
Our success is dependent on key personnel
Our success depends, in part, upon the continued service of key personnel, such as Mr. Ted Karkus, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, Mr. Robert V. Cuddihy, Jr.,
Chief Operating Officer and Interim Chief Financial Officer, and certain managers and strategists within the Company. The loss of the services of any one of them could have a
material adverse effect on us.
We may not be able to hire, train, motivate, retain and manage professional staff; transitions in management may affect our business
We must hire, train, motivate, retain and manage highly skilled employees. Competition for skilled employees who can perform the services that we require is intense and
hiring, training, motivating, retaining and managing employees with the skills required is time-consuming and expensive. If we are not be able to hire sufficient professional staff
to support our operations, or to train, motivate, retain and manage the employees we do hire, it could have a material adverse effect on our business operations or financial results.
We are dependent on our manufacturing facility and suppliers for certain of our cold remedy products
Our manufacturing, warehousing and distribution center is located in Lebanon, Pennsylvania. In the event of a disruption of this facility, we would outsource, at least
temporarily, to third parties our manufacturing, warehousing and distribution requirements. While such secondary sources have been identified for our products, if we are unable
to find other sources or there were a delay in the ramp-up for the production and distribution operations for some of our products, it could have a material adverse effect on our
operations.
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Certain raw material active ingredients used in connection with the Cold-EEZE® product are purchased from a single unaffiliated supplier. Should the relationship
terminate or the vendor become unable supply material, we believe that current contingency plans would prevent such termination from materially affecting our
operations, although there may be delays in production of our products until an acceptable replacement supplier is located.
We continue to look for safe and reliable multiple-location sources for products and raw materials so that we can continue to obtain products and raw materials in the
event of a disruption in our business relationship with any single manufacturer or supplier. While secondary sources have been identified for some of our manufacturing and raw
materials needs, our inability to find alternative sources for some of our manufacturing and raw materials may have a material adverse effect on our operations and financial
condition. In addition, the terms on which manufacturers and suppliers will make products and raw materials available to us could have a material effect on our success.
The manufacturing of OTC products and dietary supplements is subject to applicable current good manufacturing practice regulations and FDA inspections. We believe
we are in substantial compliance with material provisions of the applicable cGMP regulations. Contract manufacturers are also subject to these same requirements and we require
such compliance in our contractual relationships with such manufacturers. However, we cannot assure that the FDA will agree with our determination of compliance. If the
FDA disagrees, it could, upon inspection of our facility, issue a notice of violations, referred to as a form FDA-483, or issue a Warning Letter, or both. If the FDA concludes that
there is an imminent public health threat or if we fail to take timely corrective actions to the satisfaction of the FDA, the agency can initiate legal actions, such as seizure and
injunction, which could include a recall order or the entry of a consent decree, or both. In addition, we could be subject to monetary penalties and even criminal prosecution for
egregious conduct. The FDA could initiate similar legal actions against the contract manufacturer if it concludes its facility is not in compliance, which would affect the
availability our products. While secondary sources have been identified for our products, our inability to find other sources or a delay in the ramp-up for the production and
distribution operations for some of its products may have a material adverse effect on our operations.
We are uncertain as to whether we can protect our proprietary rights
The strength of our patent position and proprietary formulations and compounds may be important to our long-term success. We currently own numerous U.S. and
foreign patents in connection with potential products; however there can be no assurance that these patents and proprietary formulations and compounds will effectively protect
our products from duplication by others. In addition, we may not be able to afford the expense of any litigation which may be necessary to enforce our rights under any of the
patents. Furthermore, there can be no assurance that third parties will not obtain access to or independently develop our technologies, know-how, ideas, concepts and
documentation, which could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition.
Although we believe that current and future products do not and will not infringe upon the patents or violate the proprietary rights of others, if any of our current or
future products do infringe upon the patents or proprietary rights of others, we may have to modify the products or obtain an additional license for the manufacture and/or sale of
such products. We could also be prohibited from selling the infringing products. If we were found to infringe on the proprietary rights of others, it is uncertain whether we
would be able to take corrective actions in a timely manner, upon acceptable terms and conditions, or at all, and the failure to do so could have a material adverse effect upon our
business, financial condition and operations.
Our existing products and potential new products expose us to potential product liability claims
Our business results in exposure to an inherent risk of potential product liability claims, including claims for serious bodily injury or death caused by the sales of our
existing products and the products which are being developed. These claims could lead to substantial damage awards. We currently maintain product liability insurance in the
amount of, and with a maximum payout of, $25 million. A successful claim brought against us in excess of, or outside of, existing insurance coverage could have a material
adverse effect on our results of operations and financial condition. Claims against us, regardless of their merit or eventual outcome, may also have a material adverse effect on
the consumer demand for its products.
We are involved in litigation including claims relating to certain of our Cold-EEZE® products and other business matters
We are, from time-to-time, subject to various legal proceedings and claims, either asserted or unasserted. Any such claims, whether with or without merit, can be timeconsuming and expensive to defend and can divert management's attention and resources. While management believes that we have adequate insurance coverage and, if
applicable, accrued loss contingencies for all known matters, there is no assurance that the outcome of all current or future litigation will not have a material adverse effect on us.
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Certain Officers, Directors, PSI Parent and former executives and their families own a substantial amount of our Common Stock
As of March 1, 2011, our executive officers and directors, and PSI Parent beneficially owned approximately 9.1% and 9.8%, respectively, of our Common Stock and
our former executives, Mr. Guy J. Quigley and Mr. Charles Phillips, and their immediate families beneficially owned, approximately 27.1% of our Common Stock. These
individuals have significant influence over the outcome of all matters submitted to stockholders for approval, including the election of directors. Consequently, they exercise
substantial influence over all major decisions including major corporate actions such as mergers and other business combinations transactions which could result in or prevent a
change of control of the Company. Circumstances may occur in which the interests of these shareholders could be in conflict with the interests of other shareholders.
Accordingly, your ability to influence us through voting your shares may be limited or the market price of our Common Stock may be adversely affected.
Our stock price is volatile
The market price of our Common Stock has experienced significant volatility. There are several factors which could affect the price of our Common Stock, including
some of which are announcements of technological innovations for new commercial products by us or our competitors, developments concerning propriety rights, new or revised
governmental regulation or general conditions in the market for our products. Sales of a substantial number of shares by existing stockholders could also have an adverse effect
on the market price of our Common Stock.
Future sales of shares of our Common Stock in the public market could adversely affect the trading price of shares of the Common Stock and our ability to raise funds in new
stock offerings
Future sales of substantial amounts of shares of our Common Stock in the public market, or the perception that such sales are likely to occur, could affect prevailing
trading prices of our Common Stock. As of March 1, 2011, we had 14,749,877 shares of Common Stock outstanding.
As of March 1, 2011 we also have outstanding options, which are fully vested, to purchase an aggregate of 363,250 shares of our Common Stock at an average exercise
price of $7.98 per share. If these options are exercised, and the holders of these options were to attempt to sell a substantial amount of their holdings at once, the market price of
our Common Stock would likely decline. Moreover, the perceived risk of this potential dilution could cause stockholders to attempt to sell their shares and investors to “short”
our stock, a practice in which an investor sells shares that he or she does not own at prevailing market prices, hoping to purchase shares later at a lower price to cover the
sale. As each of these events would cause the number of shares of Common Stock being offered for sale to increase, our Common Stock’s market price would likely further
decline. All of these events could combine to make it very difficult for us to sell equity or equity-related securities in the future at a time and price that we deem appropriate.
We do not intend to pay cash dividends in the foreseeable future
We have not paid cash dividends on our Common Stock since our inception. Our intention is to retain earnings, if any, for use in the business and we do not anticipate
paying any cash dividends to stockholders in the foreseeable future.
Our Articles of Incorporation and By-laws contain certain provisions that may be barriers to a takeover
Our Articles of Incorporation and By-laws contain certain provisions which may deter, discourage, or make it difficult for another person or entity to gain control of the
Company through a tender offer, merger, proxy contest or similar transaction or series of transactions. These provisions may deter a future tender offer or other takeover
attempt. Some stockholders may believe such an offer to be in their best interest because it may include a premium over the market price of our Common Stock at the time. In
addition, these provisions may assist current management in retaining its position and place it in a better position to resist changes which some stockholders may want to make if
dissatisfied with the conduct of our business.
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We have agreed to indemnify our Officers and Directors from liability
In accordance with sections 78.7502 and 78.751 of the Nevada General Corporation Law our Articles of Incorporation provide that we will indemnify any person who
is or was made a party to, or is or was threatened to be made a party to, any pending, completed, or threatened action, suit or proceeding because he or she is or was a director,
officer, employee or agent of the Company or is or was serving at the Company’s request as a director, officer, employee or agent of any corporation, partnership, joint venture,
trust or other enterprise. These provisions permit us to advance expenses to an indemnified party in connection with defending any such proceeding, upon receipt of an
undertaking by the indemnified party to repay those amounts if it is later determined that the party is not entitled to indemnification. In August 2009, we entered into a standard
form of indemnity agreement with each member of our Board of Directors, Mr. Karkus and Mr. Cuddihy. These agreements provide, among other things, that we will indemnify
each director, Mr. Karkus and Mr. Cuddihy in the event they become a party or otherwise a participant in any action or proceeding on account of their service as a director or
officer of the Company (or service for another corporation or entity in any capacity at the request of the Company) to the fullest extent permitted by applicable law. These
indemnity provisions may reduce the likelihood of derivative litigation against directors and officers and discourage or deter stockholders from suing directors or officers for
breaches of their duties to the Company, even though such an action, if successful, might otherwise benefit the Company or its stockholders. In addition, to the extent that we
expend funds to indemnify directors and officers, funds will be unavailable for operational purposes.
We have identified material weaknesses in our internal control environment for the period from April 1, 2009 through December 31, 2009 and Fiscal 2010
A material weakness is a deficiency, or combination of deficiencies in internal control over financial reporting such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material
misstatement of the financial statements will not be prevented or detected on a timely basis. In relation to our Financial Statements for Fiscal 2009, in connection with its review
of the Company’s internal control process over financial reporting, management identified as a consequence of certain events occurring during the second quarter of Fiscal 2009
the following material weaknesses in our internal control environment: (i) lack of management continuity due to changes in executive management and (ii) lack of
documentation and/or the availability of documentation or records within our files of business transactions, contracts and/or evaluations conducted by the
Company. Additionally, during a portion of Fiscal 2009, we also identified and initiated remediation program to address our lack of sufficient subject matter expertise in at least
two of the following significant areas: (a) accounting for and the disclosure of complex transactions and (b) the selection, monitoring and evaluation of certain vendors that
provided services to Pharma.
In relation to our Financial Statements for Fiscal 2010, during the third and fourth quarter, we implemented a new accounting and operating software and hardware
platform (“ERP System”) to upgrade and integrate the company’s operations onto a common, state-of-the-art ERP System. The new ERP System is projected to provide
management with improved data gathering, processing, retrieval and analysis on a more timely and cost effective basis than its prior methods and systems. The installation and
transition period of the new ERP System was from June to December 2010.
However, during the transition period, certain personnel had significant access to and certain initial processing responsibilities within the ERP System as part of the
installation, integration testing, launch, shakedown and training processes. Specifically, such personnel had access to certain processing functions within the various software
applications whereby they could, enter, process, record and report transactions without our customary level of segregation of duties. Although there was significant oversight by
management during the transition period, there were limited, appropriately trained staff available to provide adequate separation of duties during the transition period.
Following the identification of these material weaknesses, management took measures and plans to continue to take measures to remediate these weaknesses and
deficiencies. However, the implementation of these measures may not fully address these weaknesses. A failure to correct these weaknesses or other control deficiencies or a
failure to discover and address any other control deficiencies could result in inaccuracies in our consolidated financial statements and could impair our ability to comply with
applicable financial reporting requirements and related regulatory filings on a timely basis or could cause investors to lose confidence in our reported financial information,
which could have a negative impact on our financial condition and stock price.
Item 1B.

Unresolved Staff Comments
Not applicable.
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Item 2.

Properties

Our corporate headquarters is located in Doylestown, Pennsylvania. We purchased this property in 1998. Our headquarters is approximately 13,000 square feet and is
comprised principally of office space and limited warehousing and storage area.
Our principal manufacturing facility is located in Lebanon, Pennsylvania. The facility was purchased in October 2004. The facility has a total area of approximately
57,500 square feet, comprised of manufacturing, warehousing and office space. Effective in June 2009, we closed our 15,500 square foot Elizabethtown, Pennsylvania
manufacturing location and consolidated our manufacturing operations in the Lebanon facility. At December 31, 2010, the net value of the Elizabethtown facility in the amount
of $138,000 is classified as an asset held for sale. In February 2011, the Elizabethtown facility was sold and we derived net proceeds from the sale of approximately $166,000.
In addition to warehousing and storage capacity at the Lebanon facility, we also stored certain inventory on a short term basis at an outside side warehouse. We believe
that our existing facilities are adequate at this time.
Item 3.

Legal Proceedings

THE QUIGLEY CORPORATION (currently PROPHASE LABS, INC.) VS. JOHN C. GODFREY, ET AL.
This action was commenced by us in November 2004 in the Court of Common Pleas of Bucks County, Pennsylvania against John C. Godfrey, Nancy Jane Godfrey, and
Godfrey Science and Design, Inc. for injunctive relief regarding the Cold-EEZE® trademark; injunctive relief relating to the Cold-EEZE® formulations and manufacturing
methods; injunctive relief for breach of the duty of loyalty, and declaratory judgment regarding various payments that the defendants assert are owing to them. Our complaint is
based in part upon certain contracts with defendants whereby we obtained the exclusive right to manufacture and distribute product pursuant to a basic patent and also obtained
various consulting services (the "Agreements"). Subsequent to entering into the Agreements, the defendants took various actions that we believe were in breach of the
Agreements. We instituted the action because of defendants' threats to deal with other parties and to use the Company’s Cold-EEZE® trademark and the trade secrets that we
developed during our manufacture of Cold-EEZE®. Both because of their breaches and the expiration of the basic patent, we terminated the Agreements. Defendants have
answered the complaint and asserted counterclaims. They seek monetary damages and counter injunctive and declaratory relief relative to the Company's trademark and other
intellectual property. The monetary relief sought by the defendants is based on their claim that they were not paid various amounts asserted to be due under the Agreements.
This claim is estimated to be in excess of $5.0 million. We believe that the defendants' counterclaims are without merit and are vigorously defending those counterclaims and are
prosecuting our action on the complaint.
Pre-trial discovery is ongoing. Defendants moved for partial summary judgment, and we filed a response and cross-motion for summary judgment. On August 21,
2008, the court denied both motions for summary judgment. The case has not been assigned to a trial calendar, although it is possible that the case will be listed for trial in 2011.
At this time no prediction as to the outcome of this action can be made.
THE QUIGLEY CORPORATION (currently PROPHASE LABS, INC.)VS. WACHOVIA INSURANCE SERVICES, INC. AND FIRST UNION INSURANCE SERVICES AGENCY,
INC.
We instituted a Writ of Summons against Wachovia Insurance Services, Inc. and First Union Insurance Services Agency, Inc. on December 8, 2005 in the Court of
Common Pleas of Bucks County, Pennsylvania. The purpose of this suit was to maintain an action and toll the statute of limitation against our insurance broker who failed to
place excess limits coverage for us for the period from November 29, 2003 until April 6, 2004. As a result of the defendant's failure to place insurance and to notify us thereof,
certain pending actions covered by our underlying insurance which are currently being defended by insurance counsel and the underlying insurance carrier may cause an
exhaustion of the underlying insurance for the policy periods ending November 29, 2004 and November 29, 2005. Any case in which an alleged action arose relating to the use
of Cold-EEZE® Nasal Spray from November 29, 2003 to April 6, 2004 is not covered by excess insurance.
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Our claim against Wachovia Insurance Services, Inc. and First Union Insurance Services Agency, Inc. is for negligence and for equitable insurance for these claims
based on our undertaking of certain attorneys’ fees and costs of settlement for claims that should have been covered by underlying insurance placed by Wachovia Insurance
Services, Inc.
At this time no prediction can be made as to the outcome of any action against Wachovia Insurance Services, Inc. and First Union Insurance Services Agency, Inc.
THOMAS A. SIMONIAN VS. THE QUIGLEY CORPORATION (currently PROPHASE LABS, INC.)
On February 24, 2010, an action was commenced in the United States District Court for the Northern District of Illinois Eastern Division by Mr. Thomas Simonian
against us for false patent marketing under 35 U.S.C. § 292. Mr. Simonian claims that our Cold-EEZE ® packaging references certain patents which have been expired since
June 10, 2005 and August 3, 2007. On such information and belief, Mr. Simonian claims that the Company marks certain of its Cold-EEZE ® branded products with the expired
patents with the intent to deceive the public and to gain a competitive advantage in the market. Mr. Simonian is seeking an award of monetary damages.
We are investigating this claim. At this time no prediction can be made as to the outcome of this case.
PUBLIC PATENT FOUNDATION, INC. VS. THE QUIGLEY CORPORATION (currently PROPHASE LABS, INC.)
On February 24, 2010, an action was commenced in the United States District Court for the Southern District of New York by Public Patent Foundation, Inc. (“PPF”)
against us for false patent marketing under 35 U.S.C. § 292. PPF claims that our Cold-EEZE® packaging references certain patents which have been expired since June 10, 2005
and August 3, 2007. On such information and belief, PPF claims that the Company marks certain of its Cold-EEZE ® branded products with the expired patents with the intent to
deceive the public and to gain a competitive advantage in the market. PPF is seeking an award of monetary damages.
We are investigating this claim. In the interim, we have filed a Motion to Dismiss for Failure to State a Claim which is currently pending before the court. At this time
no prediction can be made as to the outcome of this case.
PROPHASE LABS, INC (formerly THE QUIGLEY CORPORATION) VS. GUY QUIGLEY, GARY QUIGLEY, SCANDA SYSTEMS LIMITED, SCANDA SYSTEMS LTD,
CHILESHA HOLDINGS LTD, KEVIN BROGAN, INNERLIGHT HOLDINGS, INC., GEORGE LONGO, GRAHAM BRANDON, PACIFIC RIM PHARMACEUTICALS LTD AND
JOHN DOE DEFENDANTS
On August 23, 2010, we initiated an action in the Court of Common Pleas for Bucks County, Pennsylvania. This action is against certain former officers and directors
of the Company, including a shareholder that beneficially owns approximately 20.2% of our Common Stock, and against certain third parties (a “Complaint”). The Company has
asserted claims arising from, among other things, a variety of transactions and payments previously made or entered into by the Company. All of the transactions and events that
are the subject of the Complaint occurred prior to June 2009 and the installation of the current Board of Directors.
Other Litigation
In the normal course of its business, we are named as defendant in legal proceedings. It is our policy to vigorously defend litigation and/or enter into settlements of
claims where management deems appropriate.
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PART II
Item 5.

Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

Market Information
Our Common Stock is currently traded on The NASDAQ Global Market under the trading symbol “PRPH.” The price set forth in the following table represents the
high and low bid prices for our Common Stock for each quarter of the Fiscal 2010 and 2009, as reported on The NASDAQ Global Market.
Common Stock
2010
Quarter Ended

High

March 31,
June 30,
September 30,
December 31,

$
$
$
$

2009
Low

2.25
2.24
1.85
1.52

$
$
$
$

High
1.90
1.09
0.80
1.00

$
$
$
$

Low
5.00
6.70
4.01
2.50

$
$
$
$

3.86
3.53
1.58
1.45

Holders
As of March 1, 2011, there were approximately 272 holders of record of our Common Stock, including brokerage firms, clearing houses, and/or depository firms
holding the Company’s securities for their respective clients. The exact number of beneficial owners of our securities is not known but exceeds 400.
Dividends
We have not declared, nor paid, any cash dividends on our Common Stock since our Company’s inception. At this time, we intend to retain our earnings to finance
future growth and maintain liquidity. Future cash dividends, if any, will be at the discretion of our Board of Directors and will depend upon, among other things, our future
operations and earnings, capital requirements, general financial condition, contractual and financing restrictions and such other factors as our Board of Directors may deem
relevant.
Warrants and Options
In addition to our outstanding Common Stock, there were reserved for issuance 363,250 shares of our Common Stock underlying outstanding unexercised and vested
options as of December 31, 2010 at the price-per-share stated and expire on the date indicated, as follows:
Description
Option Plan
Option Plan
Option Plan
Option Plan
Option Plan
Option Plan
Option Plan
Option Plan
Option Plan
Option Plan
Option Plan
Option Plan
Option Plan
Option Plan
Subtotal

*
*
*
*
*
*
*
*
*
*
*
*
*
*

Number
45,500
10,000
1,000
2,500
7,500
13,000
4,000
1,000
5,000
19,750
12,000
20,500
8,000
5,000
154,750

$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$

Exercise Price
1.00
1.26
1.26
1.26
5.19
5.19
5.19
5.19
5.19
5.19
8.11
8.11
8.11
8.11

Expiration Date
December 2017
December 2011
May 2011
June 2011
May 2011
June 2011
October 2011
November 2011
January 2012
July 2012
May 2011
June 2011
October 2011
November 2011
Subtotal
Grand Total Options
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*
*
*
*
*
*
*
*
*
*
*
*
*
*

Number
6,000
32,000
10,000
22,500
10,000
6,000
6,000
40,500
4,000
17,500
15,000
2,500
10,000
26,500
208,500
363,250

$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$

Exercise Price
8.11
8.11
9.50
9.50
9.50
9.50
9.50
9.50
13.80
13.80
13.80
13.80
13.80
13.80

Expiration Date
January 2012
October 2013
May 2011
June 2011
October 2011
November 2011
January 2012
October 2014
May 2011
June 2011
October 2011
November 2011
January 2012
December 2015

Securities Authorized Under Equity Compensation
The following table sets forth certain information regarding stock option and warrant grants made to employees, directors and consultants:
SECURITIES AUTHORIZED FOR ISSUANCE UNDER EQUITY COMPENSATION PLANS
Number of
Securities to be
Issued Upon
Exercise of
Outstanding
Options & Warrants
(A)

Plan Category
Equity Plans Approved by Security Holders (1,2,3)

1,299,750

Weighted
Average
Exercise Price
of Outstanding
Options &
Warrants
(B)
$

2.99

Number of Securities
Remaining Available for
Future Issuance Under Equity
Compensation Plans
(Excluding Securities
Reflected in Column A)
(C)
1,000,375

(1) An incentive stock option plan was instituted in Fiscal 1997, (the “1997 Plan”) and approved by the stockholders in Fiscal 1998. Options pursuant to the 1997 Option Plan
have been granted to directors, executive officers and employees. At December 31, 2010, we are precluded from issuing any additional options or grants in the future under
the 1997 Option Plan pursuant to the terms of the plan document. Options previously granted may continue to be available for exercise at any time prior to such options’
respective expiration dates.
(2) On May 5, 2010, our shareholders approved the 2010 Equity Compensation Plan. The 2010 Equity Compensation Plan provides that the total number of shares of
Common Stock that may be issued is equal to 900,000 shares plus up to 900,000 shares that are authorized for issuance but unissued under the 1997 Plan, an aggregate of 1.8
million shares. The 1997 Plan expired on December 2, 2007 and no additional awards may be made; however, as of March 31, 2010, there remained 1,449,750 shares subject
to vested options that were authorized for issuance (the “Issued Options”) but were unissued under the 1997 Plan. As of December 31, 2010, 1,039,500 of the Issued Options
under the 1997 Plan expired unexercised or were terminated (the “Expired Options”). As a consequence, these shares are deemed and remain unissued which up to a
maximum of 900,000 shares become available for issuance under the 2010 Equity Compensation Plan and the remaining 139,500 options were deemed cancelled.
All of the Company’s employees, including employees who are officers or members of the Board are eligible to participate in the 2010 Equity Compensation
Plan. Consultants and advisors who perform services for the Company are also eligible to participate in the 2010 Equity Compensation Plan. At December 31, 2010, we
have granted 982,000 stock options, subject to vesting, under the 2010 Equity Compensation Plan and have charged to operations $42,000 for compensation expense for the
fair value of the vested portion of the stock options as of December 31, 2010 (see Note 8 to Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements).
(3) On May 5, 2010, our shareholders approved the 2010 Directors’ Equity Compensation Plan. A primary purpose of the 2010 Directors’ Equity Compensation Plan is to
provide us with the ability to pay all or a portion of the fees of Directors in restricted stock instead of cash. The 2010 Directors’ Equity Compensation Plan provides that the
total number of shares of Common Stock that may be issued under the 2010 Directors’ Equity Compensation Plan is equal to 250,000. As of December 31, 2010, we granted
67,625 shares of our Common Stock valued at $90,000 for director compensation. At December 31, 2010, there are 182,375 shares of Common Stock that may be issued
pursuant to the 2010 Directors Equity Compensation Plan.
Other Stock Issuances
Pursuant to the terms of Mr. Cuddihy’s employment agreement, which has a three year term, Mr. Cuddihy receives an annual grant of shares of Common Stock equal to
$50,000, payable quarterly, promptly following the close of each quarter. The value of the shares is calculated based on the average closing price of the Company’s shares for
the last five (5) trading days of the quarter in which the shares are earned. Mr Cuddihy earned and was issued an aggregate of 35,075 shares for Fiscal 2010 pursuant to the terms
of the employment agreement.
Pursuant to the Original License Agreement with PSI Parent, we issued 1,440,000 shares of Common Stock having an aggregate value of approximately $2.6 million to
PSI Parent. This issuance of the PSI Shares was in part the consideration paid for (i) an exclusive, royalty-free, world-wide (subject to certain limitations), paid-up license to
exploit OTC drugs (and certain other products) that embody certain of PSI Parent’s PSI Technology and (ii) a non-exclusive, royalty-free, world-wide (subject to certain
limitations) paid-up license to exploit certain compounds that embody the PSI Technology for use in a product combining one or more of such compounds with an OTC drug or
in a product that is part of a regimen that includes the application of an OTC drug.
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Item 6.

Selected Financial Data

The following table sets forth the selected financial data appearing in or derived from our consolidated financial statements for and at the end of the years ended
December 31, 2010, 2009, 2008, 2007 and 2006. The selected financial data should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements appearing elsewhere herein,
and with Item 7 – Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations (in thousands, except per share amounts):

2010
Statement of Income Data:
Net sales
Gross profit
Loss - continuing operations
Income (loss) - discontinued operations (1)
Net loss
Basic earnings (loss) per share:
Continuing operations
Discontinued operations
Net loss
Diluted earnings (loss) per share:
Continuing operations
Discontinued operations
Net loss
Weighted average shares outstanding:
Basic
Diluted

$
$
$
$

2009

14,502
8,830
(3,501)
(3,501)

$
$
$

(0.25)
(0.25)

$

(0.25)
(0.25)

$

$
$
$
$

$

$
$
$

7,521
21,695
13,460

$
$
$

(0.30)
(0.30)

$

(0.30)
(0.30)

$

$

$

$

$

12,963
12,963

2010
Balance Sheet Data:
Working capital
Total assets
Stockholders’ equity

19,816
11,569
(3,842)
(3,842)

$

14,285
14,285

Year Ended December 31,
2008

2009
$
$
$

11,475
21,330
14,059

20,507
11,413
(6,409)
875
(5,534)

$
$
$

(0.50)
0.07
(0.43)

$

(0.50)
0.07
(0.43)

$

$

$
$
$

(0.14)
(0.05)
(0.19)

$

(0.14)
(0.05)
(0.19)

$

$

$

18,578
33,502
23,244

(0.04)
(0.10)
(0.14)
(0.04)
(0.10)
(0.14)

$

12,245
12,245

2007
$
$
$

26,850
17,545
(547)
(1,201)
(1,748)

$

12,729
12,729

As of December 31,
2008
14,071
24,369
17,774

2006

28,241
18,556
(1,856)
(602)
(2,458)

$

12,878
12,878

$
$
$

2007

2006
$
$
$

20,541
34,845
25,529

(1) On February 29, 2008, we sold Darius to InnerLight Holdings, Inc. (see Item 7, “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations”, and Note 14 to the Financial Statements). The sale of this segment has been treated as discontinued operations and all periods presented have been reclassified.
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Item 7.

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Our Business. We are a manufacturer, marketer and distributor of a diversified range of homeopathic and health products that are offered to the general public. We are
also engaged in the research and development of potential natural base health products along with supplements and cosmeceuticals products.
Our primary business is currently the manufacture, distribution, marketing and sale of over-the-counter (“OTC”) cold remedy products to consumers through national
chain, regional, specialty and local retail stores. One of our principal products is Cold-EEZEÒ, a zinc gluconate glycine product proven in clinical studies to reduce the duration
and severity of the common cold symptoms by nearly half. Cold-EEZEÒ is an established product in the health care and cold remedy market. For Fiscal 2010, 2009 and 2008,
our revenues from continuing operations have come principally from our OTC cold remedy products.
Recent Developments
Joint Venture – Phusion Laboratories, LLC
On March 22, 2010, the Company, Phosphagenics Limited (“PSI Parent”), an Australian corporation, Phosphagenics Inc. (“PSI”), a Delaware corporation and
subsidiary of PSI Parent, and Phusion Laboratories, LLC (the “Joint Venture”), a Delaware limited liability company, entered into a Limited Liability Company Agreement (the
“LLC Agreement”) of the Joint Venture and additional related agreements for the purpose of developing and commercializing, for worldwide distribution and sale, a wide range
of non-prescription remedies using PSI Parent’s proprietary patented TPM™ technology (“TPM”). TPM facilitates the delivery and depth of penetration of active molecules in
pharmaceutical, nutraceutical, and other products. Pursuant to the LLC Agreement, we and PSI each own a 50% membership interest in the Joint Venture.
In connection with the LLC Agreement, PSI Parent granted to us, pursuant to the terms of a License Agreement, dated March 22, 2010 (the “Original License
Agreement”), (i) an exclusive, royalty-free, world-wide (subject to certain limitations), paid-up license to exploit OTC drugs (and certain other products) that embody certain of
PSI Parent’s TPM-related patents and related know-how (collectively, the “PSI Technology”) and (ii) a non-exclusive, royalty-free, world-wide (subject to certain limitations)
paid-up license to exploit certain compounds that embody the PSI Technology for use in a product combining one or more of such compounds with an OTC drug or in a product
that is part of a regimen that includes the application of an OTC drug.
Pursuant to the Original License Agreement, we issued 1,440,000 shares of our $0.0005 par value common stock (“Common Stock”) having an aggregate value of
approximately $2.6 million to PSI Parent (such shares, the “PSI Shares”), and made a one-time payment to PSI Parent of $1.0 million. In accordance with a Contribution
Agreement, dated March 22, 2010 (the “Contribution Agreement”), by and among us, PSI Parent, PSI, and the Joint Venture, we transferred, conveyed and assigned to the Joint
Venture all of our rights, title and interest in, to and under the Original License Agreement, and the Joint Venture assumed, and undertook to pay, discharge and perform when
due, all of our liabilities and obligations under and arising pursuant to the Original License Agreement (such actions, collectively, the “Assignment and Assumption”).
PSI Parent will conduct and oversee much of the product development, formulation, testing and other research and development needed by the Joint Venture, and we
will oversee much of the production, distribution, sales and marketing. The LLC Agreement provides that each member may be required, from time to time and subject to
certain limitations, to make capital contributions to the Joint Venture to fund its operations, in accordance with agreed upon budgets for products to be developed. Specifically,
in Fiscal 2010 we contributed $500,000 of initial capital. In addition, we are committed to fund up to $2.0 million, subject to agreed upon budgets (which have not yet been
formally established), toward the initial development and marketing costs of new products for the Joint Venture. In Fiscal 2010, the newly formed Joint Venture incurred a loss
of $77,000. The Joint Venture has not engaged in any financial transactions, other than certain organizational expenses and general market and product analysis, as formal
operations are not expected to commence until Fiscal 2011. At December 31, 2010, cash and equivalents includes $425,000 related to the Joint Venture which is expected to be
used by the Joint Venture to fund future product development initiatives currently under consideration by PSI Parent, PSI and us. As of December 31, 2010, we have not
established a formal commercialization program timeline for any specific OTC drug covered under the product license and we do not project that any OTC drug products will be
available for shipment within the next twelve months.
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Critical Accounting Estimates
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States (“GAAP”) requires management to make
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent liabilities at the dates of the financial statements and the reported
amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting periods. Actual results could differ from those estimates.
Revenue Recognition – Sales Allowances
When providing for the appropriate sales returns, allowances, cash discounts and cooperative incentive promotion costs (“Sales Allowances”), we apply a uniform and
consistent method for making certain assumptions for estimating these provisions. These estimates and assumptions are based on historical experience, current trends and other
factors that management believes to be relevant at the time the financial statements are prepared. Management reviews the accounting policies, assumptions, estimates and
judgments on a quarterly basis. Actual results could differ from those estimates.
Our primary product, Cold-EEZEÒ, has been clinically proven to reduce the severity and duration of common cold symptoms. Accordingly, factors considered in
estimating the appropriate sales returns and allowances for this product include it being (i) a unique product with limited competitors, (ii) competitively priced, (iii) promoted,
(iv) unaffected for remaining shelf-life as there is no product expiration date, and (v) monitored for inventory levels at major customers and third-party consumption data. In
addition to Cold-EEZE ®, we market and distribute Kids-EEZE® Chest Relief, Kids-EEZE® Cough Cold and Kids-EEZE® Allergy children OTC cold remedies (“Kids-EEZE®
Products”). We introduced Kids-EEZE ® Chest Relief in Fiscal 2008 and expanded the product line to include Kids-EEZE® Cough Cold and Kids-EEZE® Allergy in Fiscal
2010. We also manufacturer, market and distribute an organic cough drop and a Vitamin C supplement (“Organix”). Each of the Kids-EEZE ® Products and Organix® products
do carry shelf-life expiration dates for which we aggregate such new product market experience data and update its sales returns and allowances estimates accordingly. Sales
Allowances estimates are tracked at the specific customer and product line levels and are tested on an annual historical basis, and reviewed quarterly. Additionally, the
monitoring of current occurrences, developments by customer, market conditions and any other occurrences that could affect the expected provisions relative to net sales for the
period presented are also performed.
We do not impose a period of time within which product may be returned. All requests for product returns must be submitted to us for pre-approval. The main
components of our returns policy are: (i) we will accept returns that are due to damaged product that is un-saleable and such return request activity fall within an acceptable
range, (ii) we will accept returns for products that have reached or exceeded designated expiration dates and (iii) we will accept returns in the event that we discontinue a product
provided that the customer will have the right to return only such item that it purchased directly from us. We will not accept return requests pertaining to customer inventory
“Overstocking” or “Resets”. We will only accept return requests for product in its intended package configuration. We reserve the right to terminate shipment of product to
customers who have made unauthorized deductions contrary to our return policy or pursue other methods of reimbursement. We compensate the customer for authorized returns
by means of a credit applied to amounts owed or to be owed and in the case of discontinued product only, also by way of an exchange. We do not have any significant product
exchange history.
We classify product returns into principally three categories, (i) non-routine returns, (ii) obsolete product and (iii) product mix realignment by certain of our
customers. “Non-routine” returns are defined as product returned to us as a consequence of unanticipated circumstances principally due to (i) retail store closings or (ii)
unexpected poor retail sell through to consumers causing us to discontinue the product. “Obsolete” returns are defined as product returned to us as a consequence of product
shelf-life “use by” expiration date. “Product mix realignment” returns are defined as product returned to us due to initiatives by the trade to discontinue purchasing certain of our
products. Product mix realignment returns are generally nominal and are frequently related to discontinued or soon to be discontinued products.
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Our return policy accommodates returns for (i) discontinued products, (ii) store closings and (iii) products that have reached or exceeded designated expiration date.
The following is a summary of the change in the return provision for the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009 (in thousands):

Return provision at December 31, 2008
Net change in the return provision Fiscal 2009
Return provision at December 31, 2009
Net change in the return provision Fiscal 2010
Return provision at December 31, 2010

$

$

Amount
1,427
86
1,513
33
1,546

For Fiscal 2010, 2009 and 2008, net sales of products with limited shelf-life and expiration dates were $617,000, $311,000 and $265,000, respectively.
For Fiscal 2010, the return provision increased by $33,000. The increase in the return provision was principally due to (i) a charge of $815,000, including $462,000 for
products with shelf-life expiration dates (obsolete returns) offset by (ii) net returns of $782,000 associated principally with Fiscal 2009 and Fiscal 2010 received and processed
during Fiscal 2010.
For Fiscal 2009, the return provision increased by $86,000 to $1.5 million. The increase in the return provision was principally due to (i) a charge of $827,000 for
products with shelf-life expiration dates (obsolete returns) offset by (ii) net returns associated with Fiscal 2008 and Fiscal 2009 received and processed during Fiscal 2009 of
$741,000 as a consequence of an increase in product returns experienced during the period. We continue to experience higher than expected return provisions as a consequence
of excess inventories at retail for new products launched in Fiscal 2008 that carried limited shelf lives.
A one percent deviation for these sales allowance provisions for the Fiscal 2010, 2009 and 2008 would affect net sales by approximately $188,000, $261,000 and
$276,000, respectively. A one percent deviation for cooperative incentive promotions reserve provisions for the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008 could affect net
sales by approximately $182,000, $245,000 and $252,000, respectively.
Income Taxes
As of December 31, 2010, we have net operating loss carry-forwards of approximately $28.7 million for federal purposes that will expire beginning in fiscal 2020
through 2030. Additionally, there are net operating loss carry-forwards of $19.9 million for state purposes that will expire beginning in Fiscal 2018 through 2030. Until
sufficient taxable income to offset the temporary timing differences attributable to operations, the tax deductions attributable to option, warrant and stock activities are assured, a
valuation allowance equaling the total deferred tax asset is being provided. As a consequence of the accumulated losses of the Company, management believes that this
allowance is required due to the uncertainty of realizing these tax benefits in the future.
Seasonality of the Business
Our sales are derived principally from our OTC cold remedy products. As a consequence, a significant portion of our business is highly seasonal, which causes major
variations in operating results from quarter to quarter. The third and fourth quarters generally represent the largest sales volume for our OTC cold remedy products with a
corresponding increase in marketing and advertising expenditures designed to promote our products during the Cold Season (defined below). In addition, our sales are
influenced by and subject to fluctuations in the timing of purchase and the ultimate level of demand for our products which are a function of the timing, length and severity of
each cold season. Generally, a cold season is defined as the period of September to March (“Cold Season”) when the incidence of the common cold rises as a consequence of the
change in weather and other factors. We track health and wellness trends and develop retail promotional strategies to align its production scheduling, inventory management and
marketing programs to optimize consumer purchases.
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Results of Operations
Fiscal 2010 compared with Fiscal 2009
Net sales for Fiscal 2010 were $14.5 million as compared to $19.8 million for Fiscal 2009. Net sales decreased $5.3 million in Fiscal 2010 as compared to Fiscal
2009. The decline in net sales is principally due (i) an acceleration in Fiscal 2009 of our retail customer purchases and stocking for the 2009-2010 Cold Season into the fourth
quarter of Fiscal 2009 which skewed net sales for that cold season, (ii) a decrease by our retail customers purchases in the fourth quarter of Fiscal 2010 in an effort to better align
their purchases and inventory levels with the projected timing of the incidence levels of upper respiratory disorders during the 2010-2011 Cold Season, (iii) a decrease associated
with our retail customers reducing the number, timing and value of our promotional and/or display programs as a consequence of, among other influences, (a) limited space
availability, (b) allocation of more promotional space to private label brands and/or other products and (c) a general reduction in off-shelf, price promotion opportunities for the
2010-2011 Cold Season. In addition, our net sales of our contract manufacturing operations decreased $911,000 in Fiscal 2010 to $594,000 as compared to $1.5 million in Fiscal
2009 due to (i) the decline in candy product sales as a consequence of the closure of the Elizabethtown manufacturing facility in June 2009 and (ii) fluctuations in contract
manufacturing orders from non-related third party entities to produce lozenge-based products.
Data suggests that the highest incidence of upper respiratory disorders for the 2009-2010 Cold Season occurred in the fourth quarter of Fiscal 2009 and were at
significantly lower levels during the first, second and third quarters of Fiscal 2010 when compared to the 2008-2009 and prior Cold Seasons. As a consequence, there was a
reduced consumer demand at retail and therefore a corresponding reduction in retailer purchases and stocking during Fiscal 2010 as compared to Fiscal 2009. Furthermore, a
significant increase in the incidence of upper respiratory disorders for the 2010-2011 Cold Season was not observed until late in the fourth quarter in Fiscal 2010. Our flagship
product, Cold-EEZE ® continues to compete for market share with new products entering the category and many retailer initiatives to reduce the number of products it carries on
shelf within the cold and flu remedy category. We are continuing to support Cold-EEZE ® as a clinically proven cold remedy product through in-store promotion, media
advertising and coupon programs.
Cost of sales decreased $2.5 million for Fiscal 2010 to $5.7 million as compared to $8.2 million for Fiscal 2009. The decrease in cost of sales is principally due to (i)
lower revenues from period to period, offset by (ii) an improvement in gross margin. We realized gross margins of 60.9% for Fiscal 2010 as compared to 58.4% in Fiscal 2009,
an improvement of 2.5%. Our improved gross margin reflects the net effect of (i) the elimination of the production and facility overhead expenses attributable to the closing of
the Elizabethtown manufacturing facility, (ii) improved production margins of the OTC cold remedy segment, (iii) improved overhead cost management at our Lebanon
production and distribution facility, offset by (iv) an adverse impact of a reduction to net sales to absorb fixed production overhead expenses at our manufacturing facility and (v)
increased product promotion with retailers to support the launch of our new products. Gross margins are influenced by fluctuations in quarter-to-quarter production volume,
fixed production costs and related overhead absorption, and the timing of shipments to customers which are factors of the seasonality of our sales activities and products.
Sales and marketing expense for Fiscal 2010 increased $724,000, or 14.9%, to $5.6 million as compared to $4.9 million for Fiscal 2009. The increase in sales and
marketing expense for Fiscal 2010 as compared to Fiscal 2009 was principally due to the net effect of (i) the implementation of more cost effective and targeted marketing
programs, (ii) improved timing of marketing campaigns to better match the timing and product demand of the 2010-2011 Cold Season, (iii) the discontinuation of certain
ineffective marketing programs, offset by (iv) an increase in traditional media purchases in print, digital, out-of-home and television, and (v) an increase in marketing research
and development costs associated with the development of new product packaging for our Cold-EEZE® and Kids-EEZE® product lines introduced during the 2010-2011 Cold
Season.
General and administrative (“G&A”) expenses for Fiscal 2010 were $6.0 million as compared to $9.3 million in Fiscal 2009. The decrease in G&A expense of $3.3
million for Fiscal 2010 as compared to Fiscal 2009 was primarily due to the net effects of (i) a decrease in stock promotion costs of $2.3 million, principally related to the Board
of Directors proxy contest in Fiscal 2009 and (ii) a decrease in professional fees and other expenses of $601,000 and (iii) a decrease of $606,000 in personnel expenses.
- 23 -

Research and development costs for Fiscal 2010 and 2009 were $794,000 and $1.3 million, respectively. The decrease of $514,000 in research and development costs
for Fiscal 2010 as compared to Fiscal 2009 was due to a decline in the scope, timing and amount of research and development activity from period to period. In Fiscal 2009 and
as a result of a strategic review, we determined to curtail and now have discontinued further investment in certain of our wholly owned subsidiary’s, Pharma, products then under
development. This was determined in light of our view concerning market opportunities, regulatory pathways, the need for further robust and consistent preclinical and clinical
testing and continued requirements in the areas of commercial formulation and development. However, we continue to engage in other research and development activities that
we determine are appropriate and we may increase our research and development activities in future periods as a consequence of the Joint Venture.
Interest and other income for Fiscal 2010 was $53,000 as compared to $9,000 for Fiscal 2009. The increase of $44,000 for Fiscal 2010 as compared to Fiscal 2009 was
principally the result of the allocation of funds into interest bearing accounts.
As noted above, we have net operating loss carry-forwards for both federal and certain states. For Fiscal 2010, we had a current tax benefit of $40,000 as a consequence
of a carry back of an alternative minimum tax net operating loss to a prior period.
As a consequence of the effects of the above, the net loss for Fiscal 2010, was $3.5 million, or ($.25) per share, as compared to a net loss of $3.8 million, or ($0.30) per
share, for Fiscal 2009.
Fiscal 2009 compared with Fiscal 2008
Net sales for Fiscal 2009 were $19.8 million as compared to $20.5 million for Fiscal 2008. Net sales decreased $691,000 in Fiscal 2009 as compared to Fiscal
2008. The decline in net sales is due to the net effect of (i) an increase in net sales of OTC cold remedy products, of $124,000, offset by (ii) a decrease of net sales of contract
manufacturing product of $815,000 which declined to $1.5 million for Fiscal 2009 as compared to $2.3 million for Fiscal 2008. The decline in contract manufacturing product
sales is principally a result of the closure of the Elizabethtown manufacturing facility and the elimination of certain low margin products. Net sales of OTC cold remedy products
have remained stable over the past two Fiscal years as the cold and flu seasons have indicated comparable levels of the incidence of colds by consumers. Our flagship product,
Cold-EEZE® continues to compete for market share with new products entering the category and many retailer initiatives to reduce the number of products it carries on shelf
within the cold and flu remedy category. We are continuing to support Cold-EEZE ® as a clinically proven cold remedy product through in-store promotion, media advertising
and coupon programs.
Cost of sales decreased $847,000 for Fiscal 2009 to $8.2 million as compared to $9.1 million for Fiscal 2008. The decrease in cost of sales is principally due to (i) lower
revenues from period to period and (ii) an improvement in gross margin. We realized gross margins of 58.4% for Fiscal 2009 as compared to 55.7% in Fiscal 2008, an
improvement of 2.7%. The 2.7% increase in the gross margin was principally due to the net effect of (i) the elimination of the production and facility overhead expenses
attributable to the closing of the Elizabethtown manufacturing facility, (ii) improved production margins of the OTC cold remedy products, offset by (iii) an adverse impact to net
sales as a consequence of the inventory reduction programs maintained by our larger retail customers. Gross margins are influenced by fluctuations in quarter-to-quarter
production volume, fixed production costs and related overhead absorption, and the timing of shipments to customers which are factors of the seasonality of our sales activities
and products.
Sales and marketing expense for Fiscal 2009 decreased $1.1 million, or 18.6%, to $4.9 million as compared to $6.0 million for Fiscal 2008. The decrease in sales and
marketing expense for Fiscal 2009 as compared to Fiscal 2008 was principally due to as we implemented more efficient in-store, digital and consumer-based marketing initiatives
versus print and radio advertising programs launched in Fiscal 2008.
G&A expenses for Fiscal 2009 were $9.3 million as compared to $7.9 million in Fiscal 2008. The increase in G&A expense of $1.4 million for Fiscal 2009 as compared
to Fiscal 2008 was primarily due to the net effects of (i) an increase in stock promotion costs of $2.3 million, principally related to Board of Directors proxy contest and (ii) an
increase in professional fees and other expenses of $256,000, offset by, (iii) a decrease of $1.2 million in personnel costs principally due to a decrease in executive salaries,
bonuses and head count.
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Research and development costs for Fiscal 2009 and 2008 were $1.3 million and $4.2 million, respectively. The decrease in research and development expenditure of
$2.9 million in was principally the result of (i) decreased Pharma study costs of $2.6 million and (ii) a reduction in personnel costs of $223,000. The decreased spending for the
Fiscal 2009 as compared to Fiscal 2008 was principally due to (i) the completion of the Phase IIb study for QR-333 Diabetic Peripheral Neuropathy in November 2008 and (ii) a
subsequent slowdown in related Fiscal 2009 spending pending the availability of the final results of the study. In addition, we strategically determined to curtail and ultimately
suspend further investment certain of Pharma’s then existing products under development in light of our view concerning market opportunities, regulatory pathways, the need for
further robust and consistent preclinical and clinical testing and continued requirements in the areas of commercial formulation and development.
As noted above, we have net operating loss carry-forwards for both federal and certain states. However, effective December 31, 2009, we elected to conform our tax
reporting year, historically a fiscal period ending September 30, to our financial reporting period ending December 31. As a consequence, we will file a full period tax return for
the fiscal year ended September 30, 2009 with the Internal Revenue Service (“IRS”) and will also file with the IRS a “short period return” for the three months ended December
31, 2009 in compliance with the election. For Fiscal 2009, we had a current tax benefit of $26,000 for certain federal and state alternative minimum income taxes incurred for the
“short period return”, inclusive of an alternative minimum tax refund due us of $110,000 as a consequence of a carry back of an alternative minimum tax net operating loss to a
prior period. In future fiscal periods, our tax and financial reporting periods will be the same, the period ending December 31.
As a consequence of the effects of the above, the net loss for Fiscal 2009, was $3.8 million, or ($.30) per share, as compared to a net loss of $5.5 million, or ($0.43) per
share, for Fiscal 2008.
Liquidity and Capital Resources
Our aggregate cash and cash equivalents as of December 31, 2010 were $8.2 million compared to $12.8 million at December 31, 2009. Our working capital was $7.5
million and $11.5 million as of December 31, 2010 and December 31, 2009, respectively. Changes in working capital for Fiscal 2010 were principally due to the net effect of (i)
cash used in operations of $3.5 million, (ii) capital expenditures of $153,000, (iii) the cash payment of $1.0 million to acquire the product license in connection with the Joint
Venture, offset by, (iv) proceeds of $133,000 from the exercise of stock options. Significant factors impacting working capital for Fiscal 2010 included (i) an increase in
accounts receivable and inventory balances, offset by, (ii) an increase in other accrued advertising and other allowances.
Management believes that its strategy to maintain Cold-EEZEÒ as a recognized brand name, its broader range of products, its adequate manufacturing capacity, together
with its current working capital, should provide an internal source of capital to fund normal business operations. Our operations support the current research and development
expenditures related to new products. In addition to the funding from operations, we may in the short and long term raise capital through the issuance of securities or secure
other financing sources to support such product development research, new product acquisitions or a venture investment or acquisition. Such funding through the issuance of
equity securities would result in the dilution of current stockholders’ ownership in the Company. Should our product development initiatives progress on certain formulations,
additional development expenditures may require substantial financial support and may necessitate the consideration of alternative approaches such as licensing, joint venture, or
partnership arrangements that we determine will meet our long term goals and objectives. Ultimately, should internal working capital be insufficient and external funding
methods or other business arrangements become unattainable, it would likely result in the deferral or abandonment of future development relative to current and prospective
product development initiatives and formulations.
Management is not aware of any trends, events or uncertainties that have or are reasonably likely to have a material negative impact upon our (i) short-term or longterm liquidity, or (ii) net sales or income from continuing operations. Any challenge to our patent rights could have a material adverse effect on our future; however, we are not
aware of any condition that would make such an event probable. Our business is subject to seasonal variations thereby impacting liquidity and working capital during the course
of our fiscal year.
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Management believes that cash generated from operations, along with its current cash balances, will be sufficient to finance working capital and capital expenditure
requirements for at least the next twelve months. However, in the longer term, as previously discussed, we may require additional capital to support, among other items, (i) new
product introductions, (ii) expansion of our product marketing and promotion activities, (iii) additional research development activities, (iv) further investment in our Joint
Venture, (iv) venture investments or acquisitions and/or (v) support current operations. Since late Fiscal 2008, there has been substantial volatility and a decline in the capital and
financial markets due at least in part to the constricted global economic environment resulting in substantial uncertainty and access to financing is uncertain. Moreover, consumer
and as a consequence, customer spending habits may be adversely affected by the current economic crisis. These conditions could have an adverse effect on our industry and
business, including our financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.
To the extent that we do not generate sufficient cash from operations, we may need to incur indebtedness to finance plans for growth. Recent turmoil in the credit
markets and the potential impact on the liquidity of major financial institutions may have an adverse effect on our ability to fund our business strategy through borrowings, under
either existing or newly created instruments in the public or private markets on terms that we believe to be reasonable, if at all.
Our future contractual obligations and commitments at December 31, 2010 consist of the following:
Year
2011
2012
2013
2014
2015
Total

$

$

Employment
Contracts
Advertising (1)
1,075 $
1,206 $
582
1,657 $
1,206 $

Total
2,281
582
2,863

(1) Additional advertising costs are expected to be incurred during Fiscal 2011.
Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
It is not our usual business practice to enter into off-balance sheet arrangements such as guarantees on loans and financial commitments and retained interests in assets
transferred to an unconsolidated entity for securitization purposes. Consequently, we have no off-balance sheet arrangements that have, or are reasonably likely to have, a
material current or future effect on our financial condition, changes in financial condition, revenues or expenses, results of operations, liquidity, capital expenditures or capital
resources.
Impact of Inflation
We are subject to normal inflationary trends and anticipate that any increased costs would be passed on to our customers. Inflation has not had a material effect on our
business.
Effect of Recent Accounting Pronouncements
In November 2008, the SEC issued for comment a proposed roadmap regarding the potential use by U.S. issuers of financial statements prepared in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”). IFRS is a comprehensive series of accounting standards published by the International Accounting Standards Board
(“IASB”). Under the proposed roadmap, we could be required in fiscal 2014 to prepare financial statements in accordance with IFRS. The SEC will make a determination in 2011
regarding the mandatory adoption of IFRS. We are currently assessing the impact that this potential change would have on our consolidated financial statements and we will
continue to monitor the development of the potential implementation of IFRS.
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In June 2009, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) modified the accounting standard related to consolidation. This standard, as modified, intends to
improve financial reporting by enterprises involved with variable interest entities. This standard, as modified, addresses the effects on certain provisions relating to the
Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities, as a result of the elimination of the qualifying special-purpose entity concept in the accounting standard related to transfers and
servicing, and constituent concerns about the application of certain key provisions of this standard, including those in which the accounting and disclosures under the standard do
not always provide timely and useful information about an enterprise’s involvement in a variable interest entity. This standard, as modified, is effective as of the beginning of
each reporting entity’s first annual reporting period that begins after November 15, 2009, for interim periods within that first annual reporting period, and for interim and annual
reporting periods thereafter. Earlier application is prohibited. The adoption of the consolidation standard, as modified, did not have a material effect on our consolidated
financial statements.
In October 2009, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update No. 2009-13, "Multiple-Deliverable Revenue Arrangements" ("ASU No. 2009-13"). ASU No. 2009-13
amends guidance included within ASC Topic 605-25 to require an entity to use an estimated selling price when vendor specific objective evidence or acceptable third party
evidence does not exist for any products or services included in a multiple element arrangement. The arrangement consideration should be allocated among the products and
services based upon their relative selling prices, thus eliminating the use of the residual method of allocation. ASU No. 2009-13 also requires expanded qualitative and
quantitative disclosures regarding significant judgments made and changes in applying this guidance. ASU No. 2009-13 is effective prospectively for revenue arrangements
entered into or materially modified in fiscal years beginning on or after June 15, 2010. Early adoption and retrospective application are also permitted. We elected to adopt ASU
No. 2009-13 early and the adoption did not have a material effect on our consolidated financial statements.
In January 2010, the FASB issued ASU 2010-06, “Improving Disclosures about Fair Value Measurements”. ASU 2010-06 amends ASU 820 to require a number of
additional disclosures regarding fair value measurements. The amended guidance requires entities to disclose the amounts of significant transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 of
the fair value hierarchy and the reasons for these transfers, the reasons for any transfers in or out of Level 3, and information in the reconciliation of recurring Level 3
measurements about purchases, sales, issuances and settlements on a gross basis. This ASU also clarifies the requirement for entities to disclose information about both the
valuation techniques and inputs used in estimating Level 2 and Level 3 fair value measurements as well as the level of disaggregation required for each class of asset and liability
disclosed. The amended Level 1 and 2 guidance is effective for interim and annual financial periods beginning after December 15, 2009 while the amended Level 3 guidance is
effective for interim and annual financial periods beginning after December 15, 2010. The adoption of ASU 2010-06 did not have a material effect on our consolidated financial
statements.
Item 7A.

Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

Like virtually all commercial enterprises, we can be exposed to the risk (“market risk”) that the cash flows to be received or paid relating to certain financial instruments
could change as a result of changes in interest rate, exchange rates, commodity prices, equity prices and other market changes.
Our operations are not subject to risks of material foreign currency fluctuations, nor do we use derivative financial instruments in our investment practices. We place
our marketable investments in instruments that meet high credit quality standards. We do not expect material losses with respect to our investment portfolio or excessive
exposure to market risks associated with interest rates. The impact on our results of one percentage point change in short-term interest rates would not have a material impact on
our future earnings, fair value, or cash flows related to investments in cash equivalents or interest-earning marketable securities.
Current economic conditions may cause a decline in business and consumer spending which could adversely affect our business and financial performance including the
collection of accounts receivables, realization of inventory and recoverability of assets. In addition, our business and financial performance may be adversely affected by current
and future economic conditions, including a reduction in the availability of credit, financial market volatility and recession.
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Item 8.

Financial Statements and Supplementary Data
REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and
Stockholders of ProPhase Labs, Inc.
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheet of ProPhase Labs, Inc. and Subsidiaries (the “Company”) as of December 31, 2010 and the related consolidated
statements of operations, stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2010. These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the
Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audit.
We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. The Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to
perform, an audit of its internal control over financial reporting. Our audit included consideration of internal control over financial reporting as a basis for designing audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial
reporting. Accordingly we express no such opinion. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An
audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We
believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of ProPhase Labs, Inc. and
Subsidiaries as of December 31, 2010 and the consolidated results of their operations and their cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2010 in conformity with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America.
/S/ EisnerAmper LLP
Edison, New Jersey
March 15, 2011
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
To the Board of Directors and
Stockholders of ProPhase Labs, Inc.
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheet of ProPhase Labs, Inc. and Subsidiaries (the “Company” and formerly The Quigley Corporation) as of December
31, 2009 and the related consolidated statements of operations, stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the two years ended December 31, 2009. These consolidated
financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our
audits.
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. The Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to
perform, an audit of its internal control over financial reporting. Our audit included consideration of internal control over financial reporting as a basis for designing audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial
reporting. Accordingly we express no such opinion. An audit also includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements,
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our
audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of ProPhase Labs, Inc. and
Subsidiaries as of December 31, 2009 and the consolidated results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the two years ended December 31, 2009 in conformity with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.
/S/ Amper, Politziner & Mattia, LLP
Edison, New Jersey
March 24, 2010
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PROPHASE LABS, INC AND SUBSIDARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(in thousands, except share amounts)
December 31,
2010

2009

ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 2)
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $13 and $23, respectively (Note 2)
Inventory, net (Note 2)
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Assets held for sale (Notes 2 and 4)
Total current assets

$

Intangible asset, licensed technology (Note 3)
Property, plant and equipment, net of accumulated depreciation of $3,389 and $3,155, respectively (Note 4)
Other assets
$
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
LIABILITIES
Accounts payable
Accrued royalties and sales commissions (Note 5)
Accrued advertising and other allowances
Other current liabilities
Total current liabilities

$

8,232
4,821
1,682
883
138
15,756

$

12,801
3,599
1,405
803
138
18,746

3,577

-

2,362
21,695

2,572
12
21,330

489
3,665
3,524
557
8,235

$

$

708
3,681
2,124
758
7,271

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (Note 7)
STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Common Stock, $.0005 par value; authorized 50,000,000;Issued: 19,353,672 and 17,679,436 shares, respectively
(Note 8)
Additional paid-in-capital
Retained earnings (accumulated deficit)
Treasury stock, at cost, 4,646,053 and 4,646,053 shares, respectively
$
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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10
40,627
(1,989)
(25,188)
13,460
21,695

$

9
37,726
1,512
(25,188)
14,059
21,330

PROPHASE LABS, INC & SUBSIDARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(in thousands, except per share data)
Year Ended December 31,
2009

2010
Net sales (Notes 2 and 12)

$

14,502

$

2008

19,816

$

20,507

Cost of sales (Note 2)

5,672

8,247

9,094

Gross profit

8,830

11,569

11,413

Operating expenses:
Sales and marketing
Administrative
Research and development (Note 2)
Total operating expense

5,576
6,054
794
12,424

4,852
9,344
1,308
15,504

5,958
7,943
4,241
18,142

Loss from operations

(3,594)

(3,935)

(6,729)

Interest income

53

Loss from continuing operations before taxes
Income tax expense (benefit) (Note 10)
Loss from continuing operations
Discontinued operations (Note 14):
Gain on disposal of health and wellness operations
Income from discontinued operations
Net loss
Basic earnings (loss) per share:
Loss from continuing operations
Income from discontinued operations
Net loss
Diluted earnings (loss) per share:
Loss from continuing operations
Income from discontinued operations
Net loss

9

(3,541)

(3,926)

(40)

(84)

(3,501)

(3,842)

-

320
(6,409)
(6,409)

-

736
139

$

(3,501)

$

(3,842)

$

(5,534)

$

(0.25)
(0.25)

$

(0.30)
(0.30)

$

(0.50)
0.07
(0.43)

(0.25)
(0.25)

$

(0.30)
(0.30)

$

$

$
$

Weighted average common shares outstanding:
Basic
Diluted

$

$

14,285
14,285
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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12,963
12,963

$

$

(0.50)
0.07
(0.43)

12,878
12,878

PROPHASE LABS, INC & SUBSIDARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
(in thousands, except share data)

Balance at December 31, 2007
Net loss
Proceeds from exercise of stock options
Tax benefits from exercise of stock options
Tax benefit allowance
Balance at December 31, 2008
Net loss
Proceeds from exercise of stock options
Tax benefits from exercise of stock options
Tax benefit allowance
Balance at December 31, 2009
Net loss
Proceeds from exercise of stock options
Common Stock Issued to Phosphangenics
Limited pursuant to an Exclusive License
Agreement (Note 3)
Common stock granted pursuant to an
employment agreement
Common stock granted pursuant to a
compensation agreement
Share-based compensation expense
Tax benefits from exercise of stock options
Tax benefit allowance
Balance at December 31, 2010

Common Stock
Shares
12,853,133

Par
Value
$

9

Additional
Paid-In
Capital
$
37,535

Retained
Earnings
(Accumulated
Deficit)
$
10,888

$

Treasury
Stock
(25,188)

$

(5,534)
55,250

(5,534)
64
68
(68)

64
68
(68)

12,908,383

9

37,599

5,354

(25,188)

17,774

(3,842)
125,000

(3,842)
127
88
(88)

127
88
(88)

13,033,383

9

37,726

1,512

(25,188)

14,059

(3,501)
130,500

(3,501)
133

133

1,440,000

2,576

2,577

36,111

60

60

67,625

90
42
42
(42)

90
42
42
(42)

14,707,619

1

Total
23,244

$

10

$

40,627

$

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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(1,989)

$

(25,188)

$

13,460

PROPHASE LABS, INC & SUBSIDARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(in thousands)
Year Ended December 31,
2009

2010
Cash flows from operating activities:
Net loss
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash provided by (used in) operating
activities:
Impairment charge
Depreciation and amortization
Share-based compensation expense
Gain on disposal of health and wellness operations
Loss on the sales of fixed assets
Sales discounts and provision for bad debts
Inventory valuation provision
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable
Inventory
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Other assets
Accounts payable
Accrued royalties and sales commissions
Accrued advertising and other allowance
Other current liabilities
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities

$

Cash flows from investing activities:
Proceeds from the sale of health and wellness operations
Capital expenditures
Acquisition of product license
Proceeds from the sale of fixed assets
Net cash flows provided by (used in) investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from the exercise of stock options
Net cash provided by financing activities

(3,501)

$

2008

(3,842)

$

(5,534)

363
192
(33)
(728)

74
522
104
(133)
633

100
745
(736)
17
(376)
832

(1,189)
451
(80)
12
(219)
(16)
1,400
(201)
(3,549)

2,485
963
381
9
(109)
(38)
(559)
(45)
445

1,366
323
(353)
53
434
(32)
956
(1,845)
(4,050)

(153)
(1,000)

(208)

1,000
(200)

(1,153)

480
272

10
810

127
127

64
64

133
133

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents

(4,569)

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year

12,801

844

(3,176)

11,957

15,133

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

$

8,232

$

12,801

$

11,957

Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information:
Income taxes paid

$

34

$

43

$

-

$

2,577

$

-

$

-

Common stock issued to Phosphagenics Limited pursuant to a product license
agreement

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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PROPHASE LABS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
NOTE 1 – ORGANIZATION AND BUSINESS
ProPhase Labs, Inc (“we”, “us” or the “Company”), organized under the laws of the State of Nevada, is a manufacturer, marketer and distributor of a diversified range
of homeopathic and health products that are offered to the general public. We are also engaged in the research and development of potential over-the-counter (“OTC”) drug,
natural base health products along with supplements, personal care and cosmeceutical products.
Our primary business is currently the manufacture, distribution, marketing and sale of OTC cold remedy products to consumers through national chain, regional,
specialty and local retail stores. One of our principal products is Cold-EEZEÒ, a zinc gluconate glycine product proven in clinical studies to reduce the duration and severity of
the common cold symptoms by nearly half. Cold-EEZEÒ is an established product in the health care and cold remedy market. For Fiscal 2010, Fiscal 2009 and Fiscal 2008 (as
each is defined below), our revenues from continuing operations have come principally from our OTC cold remedy products.
On March 22, 2010, the Company, Phosphagenics Limited (“PSI Parent”), an Australian corporation, Phosphagenics Inc. (“PSI”), a Delaware corporation and
subsidiary of PSI Parent, and Phusion Laboratories, LLC (the “Joint Venture”), a Delaware limited liability company, entered into a Limited Liability Company Agreement (the
“LLC Agreement”) of the Joint Venture and additional related agreements for the purpose of developing and commercializing, for worldwide distribution and sale, a wide range
of non-prescription remedies using PSI Parent’s proprietary patented TPM™ technology (“TPM”). TPM facilitates the delivery and depth of penetration of active molecules in
pharmaceutical, nutraceutical, and other products. Pursuant to the LLC Agreement, we and PSI each own a 50% membership interest in the Joint Venture (see Note 3).
On May 5, 2010, our shareholders approved, among other corporate matters, the Board of Directors’ proposal to change our name to ProPhase Labs, Inc. from The
Quigley Corporation.
We use a December 31 year-end for financial reporting purposes. References herein to the fiscal year ended December 31, 2010 shall be the term “Fiscal 2010” and
references to other “Fiscal” years shall mean the year, which ended on December 31 of the year indicated. Our consolidated balance sheet at December 31, 2009 and our
consolidated statement of cash flows for Fiscal 2009 and 2008 have been reclassified to conform with our Fiscal 2010 presentation. The term the “we”, “us: or the “Company” as
used herein also refer, where appropriate, to the Company, together with its subsidiaries unless the context otherwise requires.
NOTE 2 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Basis of Presentation
The consolidated financial statements (“Financial Statements”) include the accounts of the Company and its wholly owned subsidiaries and its Joint Venture, a variable
interest entity (see Note 3). All intercompany transactions and balances have been eliminated.
Seasonality of the Business
Our net sales are derived principally from our cold remedy products. Currently, our sales are influenced by and subject to fluctuations in the timing of purchase and the
ultimate level of demand for our products which are a function of the timing, length and severity of each cold season. Generally, a cold season is defined as the period of
September to March when the incidence of the common cold rises as a consequence of the change in weather and other factors. We generally experience in the third and fourth
quarter higher levels of net sales along with a corresponding increase in marketing and advertising expenditures designed to promote its products during the cold
season. Revenues and related marketing costs are generally at their lowest levels in the second quarter when consumer demand generally declines. We track health and wellness
trends and develop retail promotional strategies to align our production scheduling, inventory management and marketing programs to optimize consumer purchases.
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PROPHASE LABS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
NOTE 2 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Use of Estimates
The preparation of the Financial Statements and the accompanying notes thereto, in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States
(“GAAP”), requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the
date of the financial statements and reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the respective reporting periods. Examples include the provision for bad debt, sales
returns and allowances, inventory obsolescence, useful lives of property and equipment and intangible assets, impairment of property and equipment and intangible assets,
income tax valuations and assumptions related to accrued advertising. When providing for the appropriate sales returns, allowances, cash discounts and cooperative incentive
promotion costs (“Sales Allowances”), we apply a uniform and consistent method for making certain assumptions for estimating these provisions. These estimates and
assumptions are based on historical experience, current trends and other factors that management believes to be relevant at the time the financial statements are
prepared. Management reviews the accounting policies, assumptions, estimates and judgments on a quarterly basis. Actual results could differ from those estimates.
Our primary product, Cold-EEZEÒ, utilizes a proprietary zinc formulation which has been clinically proven to reduce the severity and duration of common cold
symptoms. Accordingly, factors considered in estimating the appropriate sales returns and allowances for this product include it being (i) a unique product with limited
competitors, (ii) competitively priced, (iii) promoted, (iv) unaffected for remaining shelf-life as there is no product expiration date, and (v) monitored for inventory levels at
major customers and third-party consumption data. We market certain new products to our OTC Personal Care marketplace segment such as (i) Organix Organic Cough and
Sore Throat Drops and (ii) three unique Kids-EEZE Ò products, Chest Relief, Cough Cold and Allergy. Each of these new products do carry shelf-life expiration dates for which
we aggregate such new product market experience data and update our sales returns and allowances estimates accordingly. Sales Allowances estimates are tracked at the
specific customer and product line levels and are tested on an annual historical basis, and reviewed quarterly. Additionally, the monitoring of current occurrences, developments
by customer, market conditions and any other occurrences that could affect the expected provisions relative to net sales for the period presented are also performed.
Cash Equivalents
We consider all highly liquid investments with an initial maturity of three months or less at the time of purchase to be cash equivalents. Cash equivalents include cash
on hand and monies invested in money market funds. The carrying amount approximates the fair market value due to the short-term maturity of these investments.
Inventories
Inventory is valued at the lower of cost, determined on a first-in, first-out basis (FIFO), or market. Inventory items are analyzed to determine cost and the market value and
appropriate valuation reserves are established. At December 31, 2010 and 2009, the Financial Statements include an allowance for excess or obsolete inventory of $1.1 million
and $1.8 million, respectively. At December 31, 2010 and 2009, inventory included raw material, work in progress and packaging amounts of $742,000 and $610,000,
respectively, and finished goods of $940,000 and $795,000, respectively.
Property, Plant and Equipment
Property, plant and equipment are recorded at cost. We use a combination of straight-line and accelerated methods in computing depreciation for financial reporting
purposes. The annual provision for depreciation has been computed in accordance with the estimated asset lives.
Concentration of Risks
Future revenues, costs, margins and profits will continue to be influenced by our ability to maintain our manufacturing availability and capacity together with our
marketing and distribution capabilities and the requirements associated with the development of OTC Personal Care products in order to continue to compete on a national and/or
international level.
Our business is subject to federal and state laws and regulations adopted for the health and safety of users of our products. Our OTC cold remedy products are subject to
regulations by various federal, state and local agencies, including the Food and Drug Administration (“FDA”) and, as applicable, the Homeopathic Pharmacopoeia of the United
States.
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PROPHASE LABS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
NOTE 2 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Financial instruments that potentially subject us to significant concentrations of credit risk consist principally of cash investments and trade accounts receivable.
We maintain cash and cash equivalents with certain major financial institutions. As of December 31, 2010, our cash was $8.2 million and our bank balance was $8.7
million. Of the total bank balance, $708,000 was covered by federal depository insurance and $8.0 million was uninsured.
Trade accounts receivable potentially subjects us to credit risk. We extend credit to our customers based upon an evaluation of the customer’s financial condition and
credit history and generally we do not require collateral. Our broad range of customers includes many large wholesalers, mass merchandisers and multi-outlet pharmacy and
chain drug store (see Note 12). During Fiscal 2010, 2009 and 2008, effectively all of our revenues were related to domestic markets.
Our revenues are principally generated from the sale of the cold remedy products which approximated 96%, 92% and 89% of total revenues for Fiscal 2010, 2009 and
2008, respectively. A significant portion of our business is highly seasonal, which causes major variations in operating results from quarter to quarter. The third and fourth
quarters generally represent the largest sales volume for the OTC cold remedy products.
Raw materials used in the production of the products are available from numerous sources. Certain raw material active ingredients used in connection with the ColdEEZE® product are purchased from a single unaffiliated supplier. Should the relationship terminate or the vendor become unable supply material, we believe that the current
contingency plans would prevent a termination from materially affecting our operations. However, if the relationship was terminated, there may be delays in production of our
products until an acceptable replacement supplier is located.
Long-lived Assets
We review our long-lived assets for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the assets may not be recoverable
through future undiscounted cash flows. In Fiscal 2009 and 2008, we recognized impairment charges of $74,000 and $100,000, respectively, principally for the land and
building assets of our Elizabethtown manufacturing. As of December 31, 2010, the Elizabethtown land and building assets are reported as an asset held for sale at fair value, less
the cost of disposal. In February 2011, the Elizabethtown facility was sold and we derived net proceeds from the sale of approximately $166,000.
Revenue Recognition
Sales are recognized at the time ownership is transferred to the customer. Revenue is reduced for trade promotions, estimated sales returns, cash discounts and other
allowances in the same period as the related sales are recorded. We make estimates of potential future product returns and other allowances related to current period revenue. We
analyze historical returns, current trends, and changes in customer and consumer demand when evaluating the adequacy of the sales returns and other allowances.
We do not impose a period of time within which product may be returned. All requests for product returns must be submitted to us for pre-approval. The main
components of our returns policy are: (i) we will accept returns that are due to damaged product that is un-saleable and such return request activity fall within an acceptable
range, (ii) we will accept returns for products that have reached or exceeded designated expiration dates and (iii) we will accept returns in the event that we discontinue a product
provided that the customer will have the right to return only such items that it purchased directly from us. We will not accept return requests pertaining to customer inventory
“Overstocking” or “Resets”. We will only accept return requests for product in its intended package configuration. We reserve the right to terminate shipment of product to
customers who have made unauthorized deductions contrary to our return policy or pursue other methods of reimbursement. We compensate the customer for authorized returns
by means of a credit applied to amounts owed or to be owed and in the case of discontinued product only, also by way of an exchange. We do not have any significant product
exchange history.
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As of December 31, 2010 and December 31, 2009, we included a provision for sales allowances of $106,000 and $127,000, respectively, which are reported as a reduction
to account receivables. We also included an estimate of the uncollectability of our accounts receivable as an allowance for doubtful accounts of $13,000 and $23,000 as of
December 31, 2010 and 2009, respectively. Additionally, accrued advertising and other allowances as of December 31, 2010 include $1.5 million for estimated future sales
returns, $1.2 million for cooperative incentive promotion costs and $828,000 for certain other advertising and marketing promotions. As of December 31, 2009 accrued
advertising and other allowances include $1.5 million for estimated future sales returns and $586,000 for cooperative incentive promotion costs.
Shipping and Handling
Product sales carry shipping and handling charges to the purchaser, included as part of the invoiced price, which is classified as revenue. In all cases, costs related to
this revenue are recorded in cost of sales.
Stock Compensation
We recognize all share-based payments to employees and directors, including grants of stock options, as compensation expense in the financial statements based on
their fair values. Fair values of stock options are determined through the use of the Black-Scholes option pricing model. The compensation cost is recognized as an expense over
the requisite service period of the award, which usually coincides with the vesting period.
Stock options and warrants for purchase of our common stock, $0.0005 par value, (“Common Stock”) have been granted to both employees and non-employees
pursuant to the terms of certain agreements and stock option plans (see Note 8). Options and warrants are exercisable during a period determined by us, but in no event later than
ten years from the date granted. In Fiscal 2010, we charged to operations $192,000 in share-based compensation expense for the aggregate fair value of the stock grants and
vested stock options issued during the year. There was no share-based compensation expense for Fiscal 2009 or 2008.
Variable Interest Entity
The Joint Venture, of which we own a 50% membership interest effective March 22, 2010, qualifies as a variable interest entities (“VIE”) and we have consolidated the
Joint Venture beginning with the quarter ended March 31, 2010 (see Note 3).
Advertising and Incentive Promotions
Advertising and incentive promotion costs are expensed within the period in which they are utilized. Advertising and incentive promotion expense is comprised of
media advertising, presented as part of sales and marketing expense; cooperative incentive promotions and coupon program expenses, which are accounted for as part of net
sales; and free product, which is accounted for as part of cost of sales. Advertising and incentive promotion costs incurred for Fiscal 2010, 2009 and 2008 were $6.9 million, $5.8
million, and $7.7 million, respectively. Included in prepaid expenses and other current assets was $189,000 and $170,000 at December 31, 2010 and 2009, respectively, relating
to prepaid advertising and promotion expenses.
Research and Development
Research and development costs are charged to operations in the period incurred. Expenditures for Fiscal 2010, 2009 and 2008 were $794,000, $1.3 million and $4.2
million, respectively. For Fiscal 2010, research and development costs are related principally to new product development initiatives and costs associated with OTC cold remedy
products. For Fiscal 2009 and 2008, research and development costs are related principally to the Pharma’s study activities; such studies and initiatives are no longer actively
being commercialized.
Income Taxes
We utilize the asset and liability approach which requires the recognition of deferred tax assets and liabilities for the future tax consequences of events that have been
recognized in our financial statements or tax returns. In estimating future tax consequences, we generally consider all expected future events other than enactments of changes in
the tax law or rates. Until sufficient taxable income to offset the temporary timing differences attributable to operations and the tax deductions attributable to option, warrant and
stock activities are assured, a valuation allowance equaling the total net current and non-current deferred tax asset is being provided (see Note 10).
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We utilize a two-step approach to recognizing and measuring uncertain tax positions. The first step is to evaluate the tax position for recognition by determining if the
weight of available evidence indicates that it is more likely than not that the position will be sustained on audit, including resolution of related appeals or litigation processes, if
any. The second step is to measure the tax benefit as the largest amount which is more than fifty percent likely of being realized upon ultimate settlement. Any interest or
penalties related to uncertain tax positions will be recorded as interest or administrative expense, respectively.
As a result of our continuing tax losses, we have recorded a full valuation allowance against a net deferred tax asset, except for an alternative minimum tax credit
carryforward in the amount of $51,000. Additionally, we have not recorded a liability for unrecognized tax benefits at December 31, 2010 or 2009.
The major jurisdiction for which we file income tax returns is the United States. The Internal Revenue Service (“IRS”) has examined our tax year ended September 30,
2005 and has made no changes to the filed tax returns. The tax years 2006 and forward remain open to examination by the IRS. The tax years 2004 and forward remain open to
examination by the various state taxing authorities to which we are subject.
Effective December 31, 2009, we elected to conform our tax reporting year, historically a fiscal period ending September 30, to our financial reporting period ending
December 31. As a consequence, we filed a full period tax return for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2009 with the IRS and also filed with the IRS a “short period return” for
the three months ended December 31, 2009 in compliance with the election. In future fiscal periods, our tax and financial reporting periods will be the same, the period ending
December 31.
Fair Value of Financial Instruments
Cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable and accounts payable are reflected in the Financial Statements at carrying value which approximates fair value because
of the short-term maturity of these instruments. Determination of the fair value of related party payables, if any, is not practicable due to their related party nature.
Recently Issued Accounting Standards
In November 2008, the SEC issued for comment a proposed roadmap regarding the potential use by U.S. issuers of financial statements prepared in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”). IFRS is a comprehensive series of accounting standards published by the International Accounting Standards Board
(“IASB”). Under the proposed roadmap, we could be required in fiscal 2014 to prepare financial statements in accordance with IFRS. The SEC will make a determination in 2011
regarding the mandatory adoption of IFRS. We are currently assessing the impact that this potential change would have on our consolidated financial statements and we will
continue to monitor the development of the potential implementation of IFRS.
In June 2009, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) modified the accounting standard related to consolidation. This standard, as modified, intends to
improve financial reporting by enterprises involved with variable interest entities. This standard, as modified, addresses the effects on certain provisions relating to the
Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities, as a result of the elimination of the qualifying special-purpose entity concept in the accounting standard related to transfers and
servicing, and constituent concerns about the application of certain key provisions of this standard, including those in which the accounting and disclosures under the standard do
not always provide timely and useful information about an enterprise’s involvement in a variable interest entity. This standard, as modified, is effective as of the beginning of
each reporting entity’s first annual reporting period that begins after November 15, 2009, for interim periods within that first annual reporting period, and for interim and annual
reporting periods thereafter. Earlier application is prohibited. The adoption of the consolidation standard, as modified, did not have a material effect on our consolidated
financial statements.
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In October 2009, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update No. 2009-13, "Multiple-Deliverable Revenue Arrangements" ("ASU No. 2009-13"). ASU No. 2009-13
amends guidance included within ASC Topic 605-25 to require an entity to use an estimated selling price when vendor specific objective evidence or acceptable third party
evidence does not exist for any products or services included in a multiple element arrangement. The arrangement consideration should be allocated among the products and
services based upon their relative selling prices, thus eliminating the use of the residual method of allocation. ASU No. 2009-13 also requires expanded qualitative and
quantitative disclosures regarding significant judgments made and changes in applying this guidance. ASU No. 2009-13 is effective prospectively for revenue arrangements
entered into or materially modified in fiscal years beginning on or after June 15, 2010. Early adoption and retrospective application are also permitted. We elected to adopt ASU
No. 2009-13 early and the adoption did not have a material effect on our consolidated financial statements.
In January 2010, the FASB issued ASU 2010-06, “Improving Disclosures about Fair Value Measurements”. ASU 2010-06 amends ASU 820 to require a number of
additional disclosures regarding fair value measurements. The amended guidance requires entities to disclose the amounts of significant transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 of
the fair value hierarchy and the reasons for these transfers, the reasons for any transfers in or out of Level 3, and information in the reconciliation of recurring Level 3
measurements about purchases, sales, issuances and settlements on a gross basis. This ASU also clarifies the requirement for entities to disclose information about both the
valuation techniques and inputs used in estimating Level 2 and Level 3 fair value measurements as well as the level of disaggregation required for each class of asset and liability
disclosed. The amended Level 1 and 2 guidance is effective for interim and annual financial periods beginning after December 15, 2009 while the amended Level 3 guidance is
effective for interim and annual financial periods beginning after December 15, 2010. The adoption of ASU 2010-06 did not have a material effect on our consolidated financial
statements.
NOTE 3 – INVESTMENT IN PHUSION LABORATORIES, LLC.
On March 22, 2010, the Company, PSI Parent, an Australian corporation, PSI, a Delaware corporation and subsidiary of PSI Parent, and the Joint Venture, a Delaware
limited liability company, entered into the LLC Agreement of the Joint Venture and additional related agreements for the purpose of developing and commercializing, for
worldwide distribution and sale, a wide range of non-prescription remedies using PSI Parent’s proprietary patented TPM. TPM facilitates the delivery and depth of penetration
of active molecules in pharmaceutical, nutraceutical and other products.
In connection with the LLC Agreement, PSI Parent granted to us, pursuant to the terms of a License Agreement, dated March 22, 2010 (the “Original License
Agreement”), (i) an exclusive, royalty-free, world-wide (subject to certain limitations), paid-up license to exploit OTC drugs and certain other products that embody certain of
PSI Parent’s TPM-related patents and related know-how (collectively, the “PSI Technology”) and (ii) a non-exclusive, royalty-free, world-wide (subject to certain limitations),
paid-up license to exploit certain compounds that embody the PSI Technology for use in a product combining one or more of such compounds with an OTC drug or in a product
that is part of a regimen that includes the application of an OTC drug.
Pursuant to the Original License Agreement, we issued 1,440,000 shares of our Common Stock having an aggregate value of approximately $2.6 million to PSI Parent
(such shares, the “PSI Shares”), and made a one-time payment to PSI Parent of $1.0 million. PSI Parent has agreed, pursuant to a Share Transfer Restriction Agreement, dated
March 22, 2010 (the “Share Transfer Restriction Agreement”), between us and PSI Parent, that, with certain exceptions, it will not sell or otherwise dispose of any of the PSI
Shares prior to June 1, 2012. The PSI Shares were issued pursuant to an exemption from registration under the Securities Act, by virtue of Section 4(2) of the Securities Act and
by virtue of Rule 506 of Regulation D under the Securities Act. Such sale and issuance did not involve any public offering and was made without general solicitation or
advertising. Additionally, PSI Parent represented to us, among other things, that PSI Parent is not a US Person (as defined in Regulation S under the Securities Act), that PSI
Parent is an accredited investor with access to all relevant information necessary to evaluate its investment and that the PSI Shares were being acquired for investment purposes
only.
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In accordance with a Contribution Agreement, dated March 22, 2010 (the “Contribution Agreement”), by and among us, PSI Parent, PSI, and the Joint Venture, we
transferred, conveyed and assigned to the Joint Venture all of our rights, title and interest in, to and under the Original License Agreement, and the Joint Venture assumed, and
undertook to pay, discharge and perform when due, all of our liabilities and obligations under and arising pursuant to the Original License Agreement (such actions, collectively,
the “Assignment and Assumption”).
Pursuant to the Contribution Agreement and in order to reflect the Assignment and Assumption, we, PSI Parent and the Joint Venture entered into an Amended and
Restated License Agreement, dated March 22, 2010 (the “Amended License Agreement”), which amends and restates the Original License Agreement to reflect that the Joint
Venture is the licensee thereunder and which otherwise contains substantially the same terms as the Original License Agreement. The Joint Venture has the right to grant one or
more sub-licenses of the rights granted under the Amended License Agreement to one or more third parties for reasonable consideration in any part of the applicable
territory. The Amended License Agreement provides that PSI Parent shall not, directly or through third parties, exploit the covered intellectual property during the term thereof,
subject to certain limitations. The Amended License Agreement will remain in effect until the expiration of the last to expire of the patents included within the PSI Technology
or any extensions thereof. Either party may terminate the Amended License Agreement upon written notice to the other party in the event of certain events involving bankruptcy
or insolvency. The Amended License Agreement also contains, among other things, provisions concerning the treatment of confidential information, the ownership of
intellectual property and indemnification obligations.
Pursuant to the LLC Agreement, we and PSI each own a 50% membership interest in the Joint Venture. PSI Parent will conduct and oversee much of the product
development, formulation, testing and other research and development needed by the Joint Venture, and we will oversee much of the production, distribution, sales and
marketing. The LLC Agreement provides that each member may be required, from time to time and subject to certain limitations, to make capital contributions to the Joint
Venture to fund its operations, in accordance with agreed upon budgets for products to be developed. Specifically, we contributed $500,000 in cash as initial capital. In addition,
we are committed to fund up to $2.0 million, subject to agreed upon budgets (which have not yet been established), toward the initial development and marketing costs of new
products for the Joint Venture. The newly formed Joint Venture has not engaged in any financial transactions, other than organizational expenses and general market and
product analysis. Formal operations are not expected to commence until Fiscal 2011. At December 31, 2010, cash and equivalents includes $425,000 related to the Joint
Venture which is expected to be used by the Joint Venture to fund future product development initiatives currently under consideration by PSI Parent, PSI and us.
The Joint Venture is managed by a four-person Board of Managers, with two managers appointed by each member. The initial Board of Managers is comprised of four
representatives, two representatives from each of the Company and PSI Parent. The initial Company representatives on the Board of Managers are Mr. Ted Karkus and Mr.
Robert Cuddihy. Mr. Karkus, on our behalf, and Mr. Harry Rosen, on behalf of PSI, are the Co-Chief Executive Officers of the Joint Venture. The LLC Agreement contains
other normally found terms in such arrangements, including provisions relating to governance of the Joint Venture, indemnification obligations of the Joint Venture, allocation of
profits and losses, the distribution of funds to the members and restrictions on transfer of a member’s interest.
Our initial determination is that the Joint Venture qualifies as a VIE and that we are the primary beneficiary. As a consequence, we have consolidated the Joint Venture
financial statements beginning with the quarter ended March 31, 2010. For Fiscal 2010, the newly formed Joint Venture has not engaged in any financial transactions, other than
certain organizational expenses and general market and product analysis, as formal operations are not expected to commence until Fiscal 2011. Furthermore, the liabilities and
other obligations incurred, if any, by the Joint Venture is without recourse to us and do not create a claim on our general assets. At December 31, 2010, we have recorded the
$3.6 million payment representing the estimated fair value to acquire the product license as an intangible asset. We currently estimate the expected useful life of the product
license to be approximately 12 years which we will begin amortizing the cost of intangible asset once production commercialization is completed with PSI Parent and the OTC
drug products begin to ship to our retail customers. As of December 31, 2010, we have not established a formal commercialization program timeline for any specific OTC drug
covered under the product license and we do not project that any OTC drug products will be available for shipment within the next twelve months.
- 40 -

PROPHASE LABS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
NOTE 4 – PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
The components of property and equipment are as follows (in thousands):
December 31,
2010
Land
Buildings and improvements
Machinery and equipment
Computer software
Furniture and fixtures

$

2009
504
2,281
2,592
192
182
5,751

Less: Accumulated depreciation

3,389
2,362

$

$

Estimated Useful Life
504
2,281
2,535
215
192
5,727

20 - 39 years
3 - 7 years
3 years
5 years

3,155
2,572

$

Depreciation expense for Fiscal 2010, 2009 and 2008 was $363,000, $522,000, and $745,000, respectively. We disposed of certain automobiles in Fiscal 2009 with an
aggregate net book value of $114,000. The automobiles were purchased by certain former executive officers at our then book value of the automobiles.
NOTE 5 – PATENT RIGHTS AND RELATED ROYALTY COMMITMENTS
We have maintained a separate representation and distribution agreement relating to the development of the zinc gluconate glycine product formulation. In return for
exclusive worldwide distribution rights, we agreed to pay the developer a 3% royalty and a 2% consulting fee based on sales collected, less certain deductions, throughout the
term of this agreement, which expired May 2007. However, we and the developer are in litigation (see Note 7) and as such no potential offset for these fees from such litigation
has been recorded. The amount accrued for this expense at each of December 31, 2010 and 2009 was $3.5 million.
NOTE 6 – OTHER CURRENT LIABILITIES
At December 31, 2010 and 2009, other current liabilities include $483,000 and $386,000, respectively, related to accrued compensation.
NOTE 7 – COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
Certain operating leases for office and warehouse space maintained by us resulted in rent expense for the Fiscal 2010, 2009 and 2008 of $11,000, $44,000 and $53,000,
respectively. We have approximate future obligations over the next five years as follows (in thousands):
Year
2011
2012
2013
2014
2015
Total

$

$

Employment
Contracts
1,075 $
582
1,657 $

Advertising(1)
1,206 $
1,206 $

(1) Additional advertising costs are expected to be incurred during Fiscal 2011.
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In August, 2009, we entered into a standard form of indemnity agreement with each member of our Board of Directors, Mr. Ted Karkus, our Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer, and Mr. Robert V. Cuddihy, Jr., our Chief Operating Officer. These agreements provide, among other things, that we will indemnify each director, Mr.
Karkus and Mr. Cuddihy in the event that they become a party or otherwise a participant in any action or proceeding on account of their service as a director or officer of the
Company (or service for another corporation or entity in any capacity at the request of the Company) to the fullest extent permitted by applicable law. Under the indemnity
agreement, we will pay, in advance of the final disposition of any such action or proceeding, expenses (including attorneys’ fees) incurred by our directors or officers in
defending or otherwise responding to such action or proceeding upon receipt of a written undertaking from the directors or officers to repay the amount advanced consistent with
applicable law in the event that a court shall ultimately determine that he or she is not entitled to be indemnified for such expenses. The contractual rights to indemnification
provided by the indemnity agreements are subject to the limitations and conditions specified in the agreements, and are in addition to any other rights each director and officer
may have under our Articles of Incorporation and Amended and Restated Bylaws, each as amended from time to time, and applicable law.
On August 19, 2009, we entered into employment agreements, effective as of July 15, 2009, with each of Mr. Karkus and Mr. Cuddihy.
Pursuant to the terms of Mr. Karkus’ employment agreement, which has a three year term, Mr. Karkus (i) will earn a salary of $750,000 per year as Chief Executive
Officer, (ii) will receive regular benefits routinely provided to our senior executives and (iii) is eligible to receive an annual increase in base salary and may be awarded a bonus,
payable in cash or stock, each in the sole discretion of the Board of Directors. Mr. Karkus is also subject to non-competition restrictions for the entire duration of the agreement
and for a period of 18 months thereafter. In the event of the termination by the Company of the employment of Mr. Karkus without cause or due to a voluntary resignation by
him without Good Reason (as defined in the agreement), Mr. Karkus will be paid a lump sum severance payment in cash equal to the greater of (A) the amount equal to 18
months base salary or (B) the amount equal to his base salary for the remainder of the term as if the agreement had not been terminated. Additionally, Mr. Karkus is entitled to
receive a lump sum severance payment in cash equal to the greater of A or B, if he, within 24 months of a Change in Control (as defined in the agreement) of the Company, is
terminated without cause or due to a voluntary resignation by him without Good Reason (as defined in the agreement).
Pursuant to the terms of Mr. Cuddihy’s employment agreement, which has a three year term, Mr. Cuddihy (i) will earn a salary of $275,000 per year as Chief Operating
Officer, (ii) will receive regular benefits routinely provided to our senior executives, (iii) is eligible to receive an annual increase in base salary and may be awarded a bonus,
payable in cash or stock, each in the sole discretion of the Board of Directors and (iv) will receive an annual grant of shares of Common Stock that is equal to $50,000, payable
quarterly, promptly following the close of each quarter. The value of the shares is calculated based on the average closing price of our shares for the last five (5) trading days of
the quarter in which the shares are earned. Mr. Cuddihy earned an aggregate of 35,075 shares valued at $50,000, and 11,004 shares valued $23,000 for Fiscal 2010 and 2009,
respectively, pursuant to the terms of the employment agreement, 36,111 of such shares were issued during Fiscal 2010. Mr. Cuddihy is also subject to non-competition
restrictions for the entire duration of the agreement and for a period of 18 months thereafter. In the event of the termination by the Company of the employment of Mr. Cuddihy
without cause or due to a voluntary resignation by him without Good Reason (as defined in the agreement), Mr. Cuddihy will be paid a lump sum severance payment in cash
equal to the greater of (Y) the amount equal to 18 months of base salary plus $50,000, or (Z) the amount equal to base salary, plus any amounts owed to Mr. Cuddihy under
Section 4(c) of the agreement with respect to the grant of shares equal to $50,000 per year, owed throughout the remainder of the term as if the agreement had not been
terminated. Additionally, Mr. Cuddihy is entitled to receive a lump sum severance payment in cash equal to the greater of Y or Z, if he, within 24 months of a Change in Control
(as defined in the agreement) of the Company, is terminated without cause or due to a voluntary resignation by him without Good Reason (as defined in the agreement).
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THE QUIGLEY CORPORATION (currently PROPHASE LABS, INC.) VS. JOHN C. GODFREY, ET AL.
This action was commenced by us in November 2004 in the Court of Common Pleas of Bucks County, Pennsylvania against John C. Godfrey, Nancy Jane Godfrey, and
Godfrey Science and Design, Inc. for injunctive relief regarding the Cold-EEZE® trademark; injunctive relief relating to the Cold-EEZE® formulations and manufacturing
methods; injunctive relief for breach of the duty of loyalty, and declaratory judgment regarding various payments that the defendants assert are owing to them. Our complaint is
based in part upon certain contracts with defendants whereby we obtained the exclusive right to manufacture and distribute product pursuant to a basic patent and also obtained
various consulting services (the "Agreements"). Subsequent to entering into the Agreements, the defendants took various actions that we believe were in breach of the
Agreements. We instituted the action because of defendants' threats to deal with other parties and to use the Company’s Cold-EEZE® trademark and the trade secrets that we
developed during our manufacture of Cold-EEZE®. Both because of their breaches and the expiration of the basic patent, we terminated the Agreements. Defendants have
answered the complaint and asserted counterclaims. They seek monetary damages and counter injunctive and declaratory relief relative to the Company's trademark and other
intellectual property. The monetary relief sought by the defendants is based on their claim that they were not paid various amounts asserted to be due under the Agreements.
This claim is estimated to be in excess of $5.0 million. We believe that the defendants' counterclaims are without merit and are vigorously defending those counterclaims and are
prosecuting our action on the complaint.
Pre-trial discovery is ongoing. Defendants moved for partial summary judgment, and we filed a response and cross-motion for summary judgment. On August 21,
2008, the court denied both motions for summary judgment. The case has not been assigned to a trial calendar, although it is possible that the case will be listed for trial in 2011.
At this time no prediction as to the outcome of this action can be made.
THE QUIGLEY CORPORATION (currently PROPHASE LABS, INC.) VS. WACHOVIA INSURANCE SERVICES, INC. AND FIRST UNION INSURANCE SERVICES AGENCY,
INC.
We instituted a Writ of Summons against Wachovia Insurance Services, Inc. and First Union Insurance Services Agency, Inc. on December 8, 2005 in the Court of
Common Pleas of Bucks County, Pennsylvania. The purpose of this suit was to maintain an action and toll the statute of limitation against our insurance broker who failed to
place excess limits coverage for us for the period from November 29, 2003 until April 6, 2004. As a result of the defendant's failure to place insurance and to notify us thereof,
certain pending actions covered by our underlying insurance, which are currently being defended by insurance counsel and the underlying insurance carrier may cause an
exhaustion of the underlying insurance for the policy periods ending November 29, 2004 and November 29, 2005. Any case in which an alleged action arose relating to the use
of Cold-EEZE® Nasal Spray from November 29, 2003 to April 6, 2004 is not covered by excess insurance.
Our claim against Wachovia Insurance Services, Inc. and First Union Insurance Services Agency, Inc. is for negligence and for equitable insurance for these claims
based on our undertaking of certain attorneys' fees and costs of settlement for claims that should have been covered by underlying insurance placed by Wachovia Insurance
Services, Inc. At this time no prediction can be made as to the outcome of any action against Wachovia Insurance Services, Inc. and First Union Insurance Services Agency, Inc.
PROPHASE LABS, INC.(formerly THE QUIGLEY CORPORATION) VS. GUY QUIGLEY, GARY QUIGLEY, SCANDA SYSTEMS LIMITED, SCANDA SYSTEMS LTD,
CHILESHA HOLDINGS LTD, KEVIN BROGAN, INNERLIGHT HOLDINGS, INC., GEORGE LONGO, GRAHAM BRANDON, PACIFIC RIM PHARMACEUTICALS LTD AND
JOHN DOE DEFENDANTS
On August 23, 2010, we initiated an action in the Court of Common Pleas for Bucks County, Pennsylvania. This action is against certain former officers and directors
of the Company, including a shareholder that beneficially owns approximately 20.2% of our Common Stock, and against certain third parties (a “Complaint”). The Company has
asserted claims arising from, among other things, a variety of transactions and payments previously made or entered into by the Company. All of the transactions and events that
are the subject of the Complaint occurred prior to June 2009 and the installation of the current Board of Directors.
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Stockholder Rights Plan
On September 8, 1998, our Board of Directors declared a dividend distribution of Common Stock Purchase Rights (each individually, a “Right” and collectively, the
“Rights”) payable to the stockholders of record on September 25, 1998, thereby creating a Stockholder Rights Plan (the “Rights Agreement”). The Plan was amended effective
May 23, 2008 (“First Amendment”) and further amended effective August 18, 2009 (“Second Amendment”). The Rights Agreement, as amended, provides that each Right
entitles the stockholder of record to purchase from the Company that number of common shares having a combined market value equal to two times the Rights exercise price of
$45. The Rights are not exercisable until the distribution date, which will be the earlier of a public announcement that a person or group of affiliated or associated persons has
acquired 15% or more of the outstanding common shares, or the announcement of an intention by a similarly constituted party to make a tender or exchange offer resulting in the
ownership of 15% or more of the outstanding common shares. The dividend has the effect of giving the stockholder a 50% discount on the share’s current market value for
exercising such right. In the event of a cashless exercise of the Right, and the acquirer has acquired less than 50% beneficial ownership of the Company, a stockholder may
exchange one Right for one common share of the Company. The Rights Agreement, as amended, includes a provision pursuant to which our Board of Directors may exempt
from the provisions of the Rights Agreement an offer for all outstanding shares of our Common Stock that the directors determine to be fair and not inadequate and to otherwise
be in the best interests of the Company and its stockholders, after receiving advice from one or more investment banking firms. The expiration date of the Rights Agreement, as
amended, is September 25, 2018.
The 1997 Option Plan
On December 2, 1997, our Board of Directors approved a Stock Option Plan (the “1997 Plan”), which was amended in 2005, and provided for the granting of up to 4.5
million shares of Common Stock. Under the 1997 Plan, we were permitted to grant options to employees, officers or directors of the Company at variable percentages of the
market value of stock at the date of grant. No incentive stock option could be exercisable more than ten years after the date of grant or five years after the date of grant where the
individual owns more than ten percent of the total combined voting power of all classes of stock. Stockholders approved the 1997 Plan in Fiscal 1998. No options were granted
under this Plan during Fiscal 2010, 2009 or 2008.
At December 31, 2009, we are precluded from issuing any additional options or grants in the future under the 1997 Plan pursuant to the terms of the plan
document. Options previously granted continue to be available for exercise at any time prior to such options’ respective expiration dates, but in no event later than ten years from
the date granted. At December 31, 2010, there are 317,750 options outstanding with various expiration dates ranging from May 2011 through December 2015, depending upon
the date of grant.
The 2010 Equity Compensation Plan
On May 5, 2010, our shareholders approved the 2010 Equity Compensation Plan. The 2010 Equity Compensation Plan provides that the total number of shares of
Common Stock that may be issued is equal to 900,000 shares plus up to 900,000 shares that are authorized for issuance, Issued Options (defined below) but unissued under the
1997 Plan Stock Options Plan (the “1997 Plan”), an aggregate of 1.8 million shares. The 1997 Plan expired on December 2, 2007 and no additional awards may be made;
however, as of March 31, 2010, there remained 1,449,750 shares subject to vested options that were authorized for issuance (the “Issued Options”) but were unissued under the
1997 Plan. As of December 31, 2010, 1,039,500 of the Issued Options under the 1997 Plan expired unexercised or were terminated (the “Expired Options”). As a consequence,
these shares are deemed and remain unissued which up to a maximum of 900,000 shares become available for issuance under the 2010 Equity Compensation Plan and the
remaining 139,500 options are deemed cancelled.
In December 2010, we granted 982,000 options to acquire our Common Stock at an exercise price of $1.00 per share to employees pursuant to the terms of 2010 Equity
Compensation Plan. Pursuant to the terms of the grant of options, the options are subject to vesting over a three to six year period and are exercisable no later than December
2017. At December 31, 2010, 45,500 of the options granted were vested and 936,500 are subject to vesting. The fair value of the stock options at the time of the grant was
approximately $618,000. Each of the stock options granted were subject to vesting such that the fair value of the stock options granted is charged to operations over the vesting
period. For Fiscal 2010, we charged to operations $42,000 in share-based compensation expense for the aggregate fair value of the stock grants and vested stock options
issued. There was no share-based compensation expense for Fiscal 2009 or 2008.
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NOTE 8 – STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY AND STOCK COMPENSATION (CONTINUED)
The weighted average fair value using the Black-Scholes option pricing model of the options granted during Fiscal 2010 was $0.65. Based upon our limited historical
experience, we estimated approximately 27,300 may ultimately be forfeited. The fair value of the stock options at the date of grant was estimated using the Black-Scholes
option pricing model for each option classification assuming (i) an expected option life of 4.5 to 6.5 years, (ii) risk free interest rate of 2.1%, (iii) a dividend yield of 0% and (iv)
an expected volatility of 72% to 77%.
The expected volatility of the stock options is based on our historical stock volatility. As a consequence of different vesting terms of the options granted, we determined
the expected term of the stock option grants to be a range between 4.5 to 6.5 years, calculated using the “simplified” method in accordance with the SEC Staff Accounting
Bulletin 110. We use the “simplified” method since we changed the vesting terms, tax treatment and the recipients of our stock options beginning in 2010 such that we believe
our historical data does not provide a reasonable basis upon which to estimate expected term.
All of the Company’s employees, including employees who are officers or members of the Board are eligible to participate in the 2010 Equity Compensation
Plan. Consultants and advisors who perform services for the Company are also eligible to participate in the 2010 Equity Compensation Plan. At December 31, 2010, there are
818,000 options available for grant to purchase shares of Common Stock that may be issued pursuant to the terms of the 2010 Equity Compensation Plan.
The 2010 Directors Equity Compensation Plan
On May 5, 2010, our shareholders approved the 2010 Directors’ Equity Compensation Plan. A primary purpose of the 2010 Directors’ Equity Compensation Plan is to
provide us with the ability to pay all or a portion of the fees of Directors in restricted stock instead of cash. The 2010 Directors’ Equity Compensation Plan provides that the
total number of shares of Common Stock that may be issued under the 2010 Directors’ Equity Compensation Plan is equal to 250,000. As of December 31, 2010, we granted
67,625 shares of our Common Stock valued at $90,000 for director compensation. At December 31, 2010, there are 182,375 shares of Common Stock that may be issued
pursuant to the terms of the 2010 Directors Equity Compensation Plan.
Stock Option Exercises and Status of Stock Option Plans
For Fiscal 2010, 2009 and 2008, we derived net proceeds of $133,000, $127,000 and $64,000, respectively, as a consequence of the exercise of options to acquire
130,500, 125,000 and 55,250 shares, respectively, of our Common Stock pursuant to the terms of our 1997 Option Plan.
A summary of the status of our stock options and warrants granted to both employees and non-employees as of December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008 and changes during
the years then ended is presented below (in thousands, except per share data):
Year Ended December 31,
2009
Weighted Average
Shares
Exercise Price
2,268
$
7.76
(125)
1.01
(655)
7.02
1,488
$
8.64

2010

$

Weighted Average
Exercise Price
8.64
1.00
1.02
9.45
2.99

$

1.00

Shares
Options outstanding - beginning of year
Granted
Exercised
Cancelled
Options outstanding - end of year

1,488
982
(131)
(1,039)
1,300

$

Options granted and subject to future vesting

936

Exercisable, at end of year

363

1,488

Available for grant

818

-

Weighted average fair value per share of options granted during year

$

0.65

-

$
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-

2008
Shares
2,482
(55)
(159)
2,268

-

2,268
$

-

$

$

Weighted Average
Exercise Price
7.70
1.16
9.15
7.76
-

PROPHASE LABS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
NOTE 8 – STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY AND STOCK COMPENSATION (CONTINUED)
The unrecognized share-based compensation expense related to the options granted but not vested, (options to acquire 936,500 shares) was approximately $590,000 at December
31, 2010. These options subject to vesting (i) vest over the next 3 to 6 years, (ii) have a 7 year term, (iii) are exercisable at a weighted average price of $1.00 and (iv) the
unrecognized share-based compensation expense is expected to be recognized over a weighted average period of 5.1 years.
The following table summarizes information about stock options outstanding and stock options exercisable at December 31, 2010 (in thousands, except remaining life
and per share data):

Range of
Exercise Prices
$0.81 - $1.26
$1.27 - $5.19
$5.20 - 8.11
$8.12 - $9.50
$9.51 - $13.80
Total

Options Outstanding and Exercisable
Weighted Average
Weighted Average
Number
Remaining
Exercise Price Per
Outstanding
Contractual Life
Share
59
5.6
$
1.05
50
1.1
$
5.19
84
1.6
$
8.11
95
2.1
$
9.50
75
1.7
$
13.80
363
$
8.11

The total intrinsic value of options exercised during Fiscal 2010, 2009 and 2008 was $107,000, $226,000 and $207,000, respectively. The aggregate intrinsic value of
(i) options outstanding, (ii) options outstanding and expected to vest in the future and (iii) options outstanding and exercisable at December 31, 2010 was $196,000, $187,000
and $9,000, respectively.
NOTE 9 – DEFINED CONTRIBUTION PLANS
We maintain the ProPhase Labs, Inc 401(k) Savings and Retirement Plan, a defined contribution plan for our employees. Our contributions to the plan are based on the
amount of the employee plan contributions and compensation. Our contributions to the plan in Fiscal 2010, 2009 and 2008 were $90,000, $141,000, and $375,000, respectively.
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NOTE 10 – INCOME TAXES
The components of the provision (benefit) for income taxes, in the consolidated statement of operations are as follows (in thousands):

2010
Current
Federal
State

$

(40)
(40)

Deferred
Federal
State
Total
Income taxes from continuing operations before valuation allowance
Change in valuation allowance
Income taxes from continuing operations
Income taxes from discontinued operations before valuation allowance
Change in valuation allowance from discontinued operations
Total

Year Ended December 31,
2009

$

(107)
160
53
13

$

13
(53)
(40)
(40)

$

2008

(84) $
(84)

-

$

(2,297)
(61)
(2,358)
(2,442) $

(2,459)
(906)
(3,365)
(3,365)

$

(2,442)
2,358
(84)
(84) $

(3,365)
3,365
1,228
(1,228)
-

A reconciliation of the statutory federal income tax expense (benefit) to the effective tax is as follows (in thousands):

2010
Statutory rate - federal
State taxes, net of federal benefit
Permanent differences and other
Income tax from continuing operation before valuation allowance

$

Change in valuation allowance

Year Ended December 31,
2009

(1,204)
(143)
(1,347)

$

1,307

Income taxes from continuing operations
Income taxes from discontinued operations before valuation allowance
Change in valuation allowance
Total

$
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(40)
(40)

(1,335) $
(61)
(1,046)
(2,442)
2,358

$

(84)
(84) $

2008
(2,179)
(598)
(588)
(3,365)
3,365
1,228
(1,228)
-

PROPHASE LABS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
NOTE 10 – INCOME TAXES (CONTINUED)
The components of permanent and other differences are as follows (in thousands):

2010
Permanent items:
Meals and Entertainment
Officers life insurance
Return to accrual for prior year, permanent items
Effective rate adjustment (1)
Capital loss carryforward utilization (2)
Contribution of inventory(3)
Share-based compensation expense for stock options granted (4)

$

Year Ended December 31,
2009
5
(162)
14
(143)

$

$

$

2008

6 $
9
(479)
(582)
(1,046) $

6
36
27
(215)
(442)
(588)

(1) This item represents an adjustment to the overall effective state tax rate due to the addition of multi-jurisdiction tax filings, with recent additions having higher tax
rates.
(2) This item represents the utilization for tax purposes of prior year capital losses.
(3) This item represents the additional tax deduction available as a consequence of the contribution of certain inventory to qualified charitable organization.
(4) This item relates to share-based compensation expense for financial reporting purposes not deducted for tax purposes until such options are exercised.
The tax effects of the primary “temporary differences” between values recorded forassets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and values utilized for
measurement in accordance with tax laws giving rise to our deferred tax assets are as follows (in thousands):

2010
Net operating loss and capital loss carryforward
Consulting-royalty costs
Depreciation
Other
Valuation allowance
Total

$

$

Year Ended December 31,
2009

12,135
1,431
253
877
(14,696)
-

$

$

10,808 $
1,431
250
801
(13,290)
- $

2008
9,008
1,431
55
438
(10,932)
-

A valuation allowance for all of our net deferred tax assets has been provided as we are unable to determine, at this time, that the generation of future taxable income
against which the net operating loss (“NOL”) carryforwards could be used can be predicted to be more likely than not. The net change in the valuation allowance for Fiscal
2010, 2009 and 2008 was $1.4 million, $2.4 million and $2.1 million, respectively. Certain exercises of options and warrants, and restricted stock issued for services that became
unrestricted resulted in reductions to taxes currently payable and a corresponding increase to additional-paid-in-capital for prior years. In addition, certain tax benefits for option
and warrant exercises totaling $6.9 million are deferred and will be credited to additional-paid-in-capital when the NOL’s attributable to these exercises are utilized. As a result,
these NOL’s will not be available to offset income tax expense. The net operating loss carry-forwards currently approximate $28.7 million for federal purposes will expire
beginning in Fiscal 2018 through 2030. Additionally, there are net operating loss carry-forwards of $19.9 million for state purposes that will expire beginning in Fiscal 2018
through 2030.
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NOTE 10 – INCOME TAXES (CONTINUED)
As noted above, we have net operating loss carry-forwards for both federal and certain states. However, effective December 31, 2009, we elected to conform our tax
reporting year, historically a fiscal period ending September 30, to our financial reporting period ending December 31. As a consequence, we filed a full period tax return for the
fiscal year ended September 30, 2009 with the IRS and also filed with the IRS a “short period return” for the three months ended December 31, 2009 in compliance with the
election. In future fiscal periods, our tax and financial reporting periods will be the same, the period ending December 31. For Fiscal 2010, we had a current tax benefit of
$40,000 for an alternative minimum tax refund due us as a consequence of a carry back of an alternative minimum tax net operating loss to a prior period. For Fiscal 2009, we
had a current tax benefit of $84,000 for certain federal and state alternative minimum income taxes incurred for the “short period return”, inclusive of an alternative minimum tax
refund of $110,000 due us as a consequence of a carry back of an alternative minimum tax net operating loss to a prior period.
NOTE 11 – EARNINGS PER SHARE
Basic earnings per share (“EPS”) excludes dilution and is computed by dividing income available to common stockholders by the weighted-average number of common
shares outstanding for the period. Diluted EPS reflects the potential dilution that could occur if securities or other contracts to issue common stock were exercised or converted
into common stock or resulted in the issuance of common stock that shared in the earnings of the entity. Diluted EPS also utilizes the treasury stock method which prescribes a
theoretical buy back of shares from the theoretical proceeds of all options and warrants outstanding during the period. Since there is a large number of options and warrants
outstanding, fluctuations in the actual market price can have a variety of results for each period presented.
A reconciliation of the applicable numerators and denominators of the income statement periods presented is as follows (in thousands, except per share amounts):

2010
Shares

Loss
Basic EPS
$
Dilutives:
Options/Warrants

(3,501)

Diluted EPS

(3,501)

$

-

Year Ended December 31,
2009
Loss
Shares
EPS

EPS

14,285

$

14,285

(0.25) $
-

$

(0.25) $

(3,842)
(3,842)

12,963

$

12,963

(0.30) $
-

$

2008
Shares

Loss

(0.30) $

(5,534)
(5,534)

EPS

12,878

$

12,878

(0.43)
-

$

(0.43)

For Fiscal 2010, 2009 and 2008, diluted earnings per share is the same as basic earnings per share due to (i) the inclusion of common stock, in the form of stock options
and warrants (“Common Stock Equivalents”), would have an anti-dilutive effect on the loss per share. For Fiscal 2010, 2009 and 2008, there were Common Stock Equivalents
in the amount of 359,188, 133,792 and 247,869, respectively, which were in the money, that were excluded in the earnings per share computation due to their dilutive effect.
NOTE 12 – SIGNIFICANT CUSTOMERS
Our products are distributed through numerous food, multi-outlet pharmacy, chain drug stores, large wholesalers and mass merchandisers throughout the United
States. The loss of sales to any one or more of these large retail customers could have a material adverse effect on our business operations and financial condition. Revenues for
Fiscal 2010, Fiscal 2009 and Fiscal 2008 were $14.5 million, $19.8 million and $20.5 million, respectively. Walgreen Company (“Walgreens”), Wal-Mart Stores, Inc. (“WalMart”) and Rite-Aid Corp accounted for approximately 23%, 14% and 10% our of Fiscal 2010 revenues. CVS Caremark Corporation, Walgreens and Wal-Mart accounted for
approximately 15%, 15% and 13% of our revenues for Fiscal 2009. Walgreens and Wal-Mart accounted for approximately 14% and 14% of our revenues for Fiscal 2008.
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NOTE 12 – SIGNIFICANT CUSTOMERS (CONTINUED)
We are subject to account receivable credit concentrations from time-to-time as a consequence of the timing, payment pattern and ultimate purchase volumes or
shipping schedules with our customers. These concentrations may impact our overall exposure to credit risk, either positively or negatively, in that our customers may be
similarly affected by changes in economic, regulatory or other conditions that may impact the timing and collectability of amounts due to us. Customers comprising the five
largest accounts receivable balances represented 51% and 66% of total trade receivable balances at December 31, 2010 and 2009, respectively. Management believes that the
provision for possible losses on uncollectible accounts receivable is adequate for our credit loss exposure. At December 31, 2010 and 2009, the allowance for doubtful accounts
was $13,000 and $23,000, respectively.
NOTE 13 – QUARTERLY INFORMATION (UNAUDITED)
The following table presents unaudited quarterly financial information for Fiscal 2010 and Fiscal 2009 (in thousands, except per share amounts):
Quarter Ended
June 30,
September 30,

March 31,
Fiscal 2010
Net sales
Gross profit
Income (loss) from continuing operations
Net income (loss)

$
$
$
$

1,976
1,170
(1,062)
(1,062)

$
$
$
$

1,131
471
(2,254)
(2,254)

December 31,

$
$
$
$

5,204
3,610
947
947

$
$
$
$

6,191
3,579
(1,132)
(1,132)

Basic earnings per share:
Income (loss) from continuing operations
Net income (loss)

$
$

(0.08) $
(0.08) $

(0.15) $
(0.15) $

0.06
0.06

$
$

(0.08)
(0.08)

Diluted earnings per share:
Income (loss) from continuing operations
Net income (loss)

$
$

(0.08) $
(0.08) $

(0.15) $
(0.15) $

0.06
0.06

$
$

(0.08)
(0.08)

$
$
$
$

4,977
3,615
1,201
1,201

$
$
$
$

9,104
5,310
1,781
1,781

Fiscal 2009
Net sales
Gross profit
Income (loss) from continuing operations
Net income (loss)

$
$
$
$

3,987
2,353
(2,199)
(2,199)

$
$
$
$

1,748
291
(4,625)
(4,625)

Basic earnings per share:
Income (loss) from continuing operations
Net income (loss)

$
$

(0.17) $
(0.17) $

(0.36) $
(0.36) $

0.09
0.09

$
$

0.14
0.14

Diluted earnings per share:
Income (loss) from continuing operations
Net income (loss)

$
$

(0.17) $
(0.17) $

(0.36) $
(0.36) $

0.09
0.09

$
$

0.14
0.14
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NOTE 14 – DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS
On February 29, 2008, we sold our wholly owned subsidiary, Darius International, Inc. (“Darius”), the former health and wellness segment, to InnerLight Holdings, Inc.
(“InnerLight”). On February 29, 2008, Mr. Kevin P. Brogan, the then president of Darius was a significant shareholder of InnerLight. In addition, Mr. Gary Quigley, then an
employee and stockholder of the Company and also the brother of Mr. Guy Quigley, our then Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer (as well as a shareholder),
became a significant shareholder of InnerLight either before or shortly after the sale of Darius. Mr. Gary Quigley was also a principal of Scandasystems, Ltd. (“Scandasystems”),
which entered into an agreement to receive royalties from InnerLight. The results and balances associated with Darius are presented as discontinued operations in the
consolidated statements of operations.
We formed Darius in 2000 to market health and wellness products. The terms of the sale agreement include a cash purchase price of $1.0 million by InnerLight for the
stock of Darius and its subsidiaries without guarantees, warranties or indemnifications. We recorded a gain on the disposal of Darius of $736,000, as a result of sales proceeds of
$1.0 million less residual investment of $5,000 and net assets of Darius of $259,000 on the date of sale.
Sales attributable to Darius from January 1, 2008 until date of disposal on February 29, 2008 were $2.2 million. Net income from January 1, 2008 until date of disposal
on February 29, 2008 was $139,000. Financial results from operations of Darius for Fiscal 2008 are presented as discontinued operations in the consolidated statements of
operations and cash flows.
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Item 9.

Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure
None

Item 9A.

Controls and Procedures

Disclosure Controls and Procedures
We maintain disclosure controls and procedures designed to provide reasonable assurance that material information required to be disclosed by us in the reports filed or
submitted under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC rules and forms, and that the
information is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Interim Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate to allow timely
decisions regarding required disclosure. We performed an evaluation, under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our Chief Executive
Officer and Interim Chief Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of the design and operation of the disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of the period covered by this
report. Based on the existence of the material weaknesses discussed below under the heading “Material Weaknesses” our management, including our Chief Executive Officer
and Interim Chief Financial Officer, concluded that the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures were not effective at the reasonable assurance level as of the end of the
period covered by this Report.
Management's Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining an adequate system of internal control over financial reporting. Our system of internal control over
financial reporting is designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.
Our internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that:
·

pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect our transactions and dispositions of our assets;

·

provide reasonable assurance that our transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of our financial statements in accordance with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and that our receipts and expenditures are being made only in accordance with authorizations of
our management and our directors; and

·

provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of our assets that could have a material
effect on the financial statements.

Material Weaknesses
As a consequence of management’s review of its effectiveness of the design and operation of the internal controls over financial reporting and management’s
determination of the existence of material weaknesses, our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Interim Chief Financial Officer, concluded that our internal
controls over financial reporting were not effective at the reasonable assurance level as of the end of the period covered by this Report. A material weakness is a deficiency, or
combination of deficiencies in internal control over financial reporting such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the financial statements will not
be prevented or detected on a timely basis.
Material Weakness – Control environment
Lack of documentation and/or the availability of documentation or records in the Company’s files of business transactions, contracts and/or evaluations engaged by the
Company. As new management was installed in Fiscal 2009 by the Board of Directors, it was discovered during the second quarter of Fiscal 2009 that the Company was either
missing or lacked pertinent information regarding its operations, including but not limited to certain business commitments to product supply agreements, advertising programs,
product placement initiatives and other promotional initiatives, and asset sales. As a consequence of this lack of documentation or availability of documentation or records,
management has concluded that this control deficiency constitutes a material weakness.
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Lack of sufficient segregation of duties during the transition to a new ERP System. During the third and fourth quarter of Fiscal 2010, we implemented a new accounting
and operating software and hardware platform (“ERP System”) to upgrade and integrate the company’s operations onto a common, state-of-the-art ERP System. The new ERP
System is projected to provide management with improved data gathering, processing, retrieval and analysis on a more timely and cost effective basis than its prior methods and
systems. The installation and transition period of the new ERP System was from June to December 2010.
However, during the transition period, certain personnel had significant access to and certain initial processing responsibilities within the ERP System as part of the
installation, integration testing, launch, shakedown and training processes. Specifically, such personnel had access to certain processing functions within the various software
applications whereby they could, enter, process, record and report transactions without our customary level of segregation of duties. Although there was significant oversight by
management during the transition period, there were limited, appropriately trained staff available to provide adequate separation of duties during the transition period.
As a consequence of the above, management has determined that during this period of transition, there was inadequate separation of duties which is deemed a control
deficiency and a material weakness.
Remediation Plan for Material Weaknesses
Management is making progress on its remediation plan for the segregation of duties which includes (i) the completion of the personnel training of each aspect of the
ERP System such personnel would be responsible for (i.e. entering, processing, recording or reporting), (ii) designate and document specific personnel assess rights, roles and
responsibilities within the ERP System and (iii) eliminate the ability of an individual to have the ability to enter, process, record and report transactions.
Additionally, management continues to seek and review the underlying documentation of the Company for significant agreements, contracts, transactions and other
material commitments entered into by the Company.
Though management has implemented a series of remediation actions as noted above, there was insufficient time to fully evaluate the effectiveness of these actions
prior to the end of Fiscal 2010. However, we believe that these measures, if effectively implemented and maintained, will remediate the material weaknesses discussed above.
Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
We are currently undertaking a number of measures to remediate the material weaknesses discussed above. Those measures, described under “Remediation Plan for
Material Weaknesses,” implemented during the third and fourth quarter of Fiscal 2009 as it related to documentation review and the fourth quarter of Fiscal 2010 regarding the
segregation of duties, will materially affect, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting. In addition, our new ERP System is
designed to further enhance our operational and internal controls, our system of financial reporting and improve our general operational efficiencies. Although our basic internal
control system has not and will not change as a direct consequence of our the implementation of the ERP System, we believe that our ERP System provides significant
improvement to our financial and operational visibility further consolidating and streamlining our operations while providing significantly more relevant, easy to assess data to
manage our day-to-day operations. Other than as described above, there have been no changes in our internal control over financial reporting during Fiscal 2010 that have
materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
Because of its inherent limitations, a system of internal control over financial reporting can provide only reasonable assurance and may not prevent or detect
misstatements. Further, because of changes in conditions, effectiveness of internal controls over financial reporting may vary over time. Our system contains self-monitoring
mechanisms, and actions are taken to correct deficiencies as they are identified.
Our management conducted an evaluation of our effectiveness of the system of internal control over financial reporting based on the framework inInternal ControlIntegrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission.
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Item 9B.

Other Information

Upon the recommendation of our Compensation Committee, our Chief Executive Officer has agreed to accept his Fiscal 2010 cash bonus (see below) in shares of
restricted stock of the Company, provided that the amendments to our 2010 Equity Compensation Plan are ratified by our stockholders at the 2011 Annual Meeting of
Stockholders. Our Chief Executive Officer, Mr. Karkus, has also expressed a willingness to our Compensation Committee to receive shares of restricted stock in lieu of the cash
compensation for salary payable to him pursuant to the terms of his employment agreement with the Company. Any such stock grants to Mr. Karkus in lieu of cash compensation
could only occur following (i) the ratification by stockholders of the proposed amendments to the 2010 Equity Compensation Plan and (ii) the approval of such arrangements by
our Compensation Committee.
On March 10, 2011, our Compensation Committee approved bonuses for our named executive officers with respect to 2010 performance. The Compensation
Committee awarded Ted Karkus a $150,000 bonus to be paid in shares of our stock, but such award may not be issued until stockholders ratify proposed amendments to our
2010 Equity Compensation Plan contained in proposal 3 of our 2011 Proxy Statement. If stockholders do ratify the amendments to the plan, at our annual shareholders meeting to
be held on April 21, 2011, the value of the shares to be issued to Mr. Karkus will be calculated based on the average closing price of the Company’s shares for the last five (5)
trading days prior to the issuance date. If stockholders do not ratify the amendments to the plan, the bonus will be paid to Mr. Karkus in cash.
PART III
Item 10.

Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

The information required under this item is incorporated by reference to the Company’s Proxy Statement for the 2011 Annual Meeting of Stockholders (the “2011
Proxy Statement”) which is to be filed with the SEC not later than 120 days after the close of our fiscal year ended December 31, 2010 and is hereby incorporated by reference.
Item 11.

Executive Compensation
The information required under this item is incorporated by reference to the 2011 Proxy Statement.

Item 12.

Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters
The information required under this item is incorporated by reference to the 2011 Proxy Statement.

Item 13.

Certain Relationships and Related Transactions and Director Independence
The information required under this item is incorporated by reference to the 2011 Proxy Statement.

Item 14.

Principal Accountant Fees and Services
The information required under this item is incorporated by reference to the 2011 Proxy Statement.
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PART IV
Item 15.

Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

(a) Exhibits:
3.1

Articles of Incorporation of the Company, as amended (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 of Form 10-KSB/A filed on April 4, 1997)

3.2

Certificate of Amendment to the Articles of Incorporation effective May 5, 2010 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 of Form 8-K filed on
May 10, 2010).

3.3

By-laws of the Company as amended and restated effective August 18, 2009, (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 of Form 8-K filed on
August 18, 2009)

4.1

Specimen Common Stock Certificate (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 of Form 10-KSB/A filed on April 4, 1997).

10.1*

1997 Stock Option Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-8 (File No. 333-61313)
filed on August 13, 1998).

10.2

Exclusive Representation and Distribution Agreement dated May 4, 1992 between the Company and Godfrey Science and Design, Inc. et al
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of Form 10-KSB/A filed on April 4, 1997).

10.3

Consulting Agreement dated May 4, 1992 between the Company and Godfrey Science and Design, Inc. et al. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.5 of Form 10-KSB/A filed on April 4, 1997).

10.4

Rights Agreement dated September 15, 1998 between the Company and American Stock Transfer and Trust Company (incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 1 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form 8-A filed on September 18, 1998).

10.5

First Amendment to the Rights Agreement, dated as of May 20, 2008 between the Company and American Stock Transfer and Trust Company
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 of Form 8-K filed on May 23, 2008).

10.6

Sale agreement of Darius to Innerlight Holdings, Inc. dated February 29, 2008 incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 of Form 8-K filed on
March 3, 2008).

10.7

Second Amendment to the Rights Agreement, dated as of August 18, 2009 between the Company and American Stock Transfer and Trust
Company (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of Form 8-K filed on August 18, 2009)

10.8

Form of Indemnification Agreement between the Company and each of its Officers and Directors dated August 19, 2009 (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.1 of Form 8-K filed on August 19, 2009)

10.9*

Employment Agreement dated August 15, 2009 between Ted Karkus and the Company (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of Form 8-K
filed on August 19, 2009)

10.10*

Employment Agreement dated August 15, 2009 between Robert V. Cuddihy, Jr., and the Company (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 of
Form 8-K filed on August 19, 2009)

10.11

Limited Liability Company Agreement, dated March 22, 2010, between the Company, Phosphagenics Limited, Phosphagenics Inc., and Phusion
Laboratories, LLC. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.11 of Form 10-K filed on March 24, 2010)
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10.12

Contribution Agreement, dated March 22, 2010, between the Company, Phosphagenics Limited, Phosphagenics Inc., and Phusion Laboratories,
LLC. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.12 of Form 10-K filed on March 24, 2010)

10.13

License Agreement, dated March 22, 2010, between the Company and Phosphagenics Limited. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.13 of Form
10-K filed on March 24, 2010)

10.14

Amended and Restated License Agreement, dated March 22, 2010, between the Company, Phosphagenics Limited, Phosphagenics Inc., and
Phusion Laboratories, LLC. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.14 of Form 10-K filed on March 24, 2010)

10.15

Share Transfer Restriction Agreement, dated March 22, 2010, between the Company, and Phosphagenics Limited. (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.15 of Form 10-K filed on March 24, 2010)

10.16*

2010 Equity Compensation Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit B of the Company’s Annual Proxy Statement on Schedule 14A filed on
April 2, 2010).

10.17 *

2010 Directors’ Equity Compensation Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit C of the Company’s Annual Proxy Statement on Schedule 14A
filed on April 2, 2010).

10.18*

Amendment to 2010 Directors’ Equity Compensation Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 of Form 8-K filed on May 10, 2010).

10.19*

Form of Option Agreement pursuant to 2010 Equity Compensation Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 of Form 8-K filed on May 10,
2010).

10.20*

Form of Option Agreement pursuant to 2010 Directors Equity Compensation Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 of Form 8-K filed on
May 10, 2010).

10.21*

Form of Restricted Stock Award Agreement pursuant to 2010 Directors Equity Compensation Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 of
Form 8-K filed on May 10, 2010).

14.1

Code of Ethics (incorporated by reference to Exhibit II of the Proxy Statement on Schedule 14A filed on March 31, 2003).

21.1**

Subsidiaries of ProPhase Labs, Inc.

23.1**

Consent of EisnerAmper LLP, Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm, dated March 15, 2011.

23.2**

Consent of Amper, Politziner & Mattia, LLP, Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm, dated March 24, 2010.

31.1**

Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

31.2**

Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

32.1**

Certification of the Chief Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

32.2**

Certification of the Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

* Indicates a management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement
** Filed herewith
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the
undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.
PROPHASE LABS, INC.
Registrant
Date:

March 15, 2011

By:
/s/ Ted Karkus
Ted Karkus, Chairman of the Board,
Chief Executive Officer and Director

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed by the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on
the dates indicated:
Principal Executive Officer

Principal Financial and Accounting Officer

By: /s/Ted Karkus
Ted Karkus
Chairman of the Board and
Chief Executive Officer

By: /s/Robert V. Cuddihy, Jr.
Robert V. Cuddihy, Jr.
Chief Operating Officer and Interim Chief
Financial Officer

Date:

March 15, 2011
Directors

/s/Mark Burnett
Mark Burnett
/s/Mark Frank
Mark Frank

/s/Louis Gleckel
Louis Gleckel

/s/Mark Leventhal
Mark Leventhal

/s/James McCubbin
James McCubbin

Date:

March 15, 2011
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EXHIBIT 21.1
SUBSIDIARIES OF PROPHASE LABS, INC.

Subsidiaries

State or other
Jurisdiction of
Incorporation

Pharmaloz Manufacturing Inc.
Phusion Laboratories, LLC
Quigley Pharma Inc.

Delaware
Delaware
Delaware

The above subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2010.

Ownership
Percentage
100%
50%
100%

EXHIBIT 23.1
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of ProPhase Labs, Inc.:
We hereby consent to incorporation by reference in the registration statements of ProPhase Labs, Inc. and Subsidiaries on Form S-8 (No. 333-73456, No. 333-61313, No. 33310059, No. 333-14687, No. 333-26589, 333-132770 and 333-169697), Form SB-2 (No. 333-31241) and Form S-3 (No. 333-86976, 333-104148 and 333-119748) of our report
dated March 15, 2011 with respect to the consolidated financial statements as of December 31, 2010 and for the year then ended, included in the December 31, 2010 Annual
Report on Form 10-K filed on March 15, 2011.
/s/ EisnerAmper LLP
Edison, New Jersey
March 15, 2011

EXHIBIT 23.2
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of ProPhase Labs, Inc.:
We hereby consent to incorporation by reference in the registration statements of ProPhase Labs, Inc. (formerly “The Quigley Corporation”) and Subsidiaries on Form S-8 (No.
333-73456, No. 333-61313, No. 333-10059, No. 333-14687, No. 333-26589, 333-132770 and 333-169697), Form SB-2 (No. 333-31241) and Form S-3 (No. 333-86976, 333104148 and 333-119748) of our report dated March 24, 2010 with respect to the consolidated financial statements as of December 31, 2009 and for each of the two years ended
December 31, 2009, included in the December 31, 2010 Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on March 15, 2011.
/s/ Amper, Politziner & Mattia, LLP
Edison, New Jersey
March 15, 2011

EXHIBIT 31.1
OFFICER’S CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
RULE 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
I, Ted Karkus, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of ProPhase Labs, Inc.;

2.

Based on my knowledge, this Annual Report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made,
in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this Annual Report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this Annual Report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this Annual Report;

4.

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rule 131-15(f) and 15d015(f) for the registrant and have:

5.

(a)

designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material
information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in
which this Annual Report is being prepared;

(b)

designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles;

(c)

evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this Annual Report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the
disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d)

disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the
registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control
over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and
the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
(a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect
the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
(b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal controlover financial reporting.

Date: March 15, 2011
By: /s/ Ted Karkus
Ted Karkus
Chairman of the Board and Chief
Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

EXHIBIT 31.2
OFFICER’S CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
RULE 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
I, Robert V. Cuddihy, Jr., certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of ProPhase Labs, Inc.;

2.

Based on my knowledge, this Annual Report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made,
in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this Annual Report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this Annual Report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this Annual Report;

4.

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rule 131-15(f) and 15d015(f) for the registrant and have:

5.

(a)

designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material
information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in
which this Annual Report is being prepared;

(b)

designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles;

(c)

evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this Annual Report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the
disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d)

disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the
registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control
over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and
the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
(a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect
the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
(b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal controlover financial reporting.

Date: March 15, 2011
By: /s/ Robert V. Cuddihy, Jr.
Robert V. Cuddihy, Jr.
Chief Operating Officer and Interim
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Accounting and Financial
Officer)

EXHIBIT 32.1
THE QUIGLEY CORPORATION
CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO RULE 13a-14(b) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
AND 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
I, Ted Karkus, Chief Executive Officer of ProPhase Labs, Inc., a Nevada corporation (the “Registrant”), in connection with the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K
for the period ended December 31, 2010, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), do hereby represent, warrant and certify, in
compliance with Rule 13a-14(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and 18 U.S.C Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to
the best of my knowledge:
(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and
(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Registrant.
/s/ Ted Karkus
Ted Karkus
Chairman of the Board and
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)
March 15, 2011

EXHIBIT 32.2
THE QUIGLEY CORPORATION
CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO RULE 13a-14(b) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
AND 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
I, Robert V. Cuddihy, Jr., Chief Financial Officer of ProPhase Labs, Inc., a Nevada corporation (the “Registrant”), in connection with the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form
10-K for the period ended December 31, 2010, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), do hereby represent, warrant and certify, in
compliance with Rule 13a-14(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and 18 U.S.C Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to
the best of my knowledge:
(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and
(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Registrant.
/s/ Robert V. Cuddihy, Jr.
Robert V. Cuddihy, Jr.
Chief Operating Officer and
Interim Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Accounting and Financial Officer)
March 15, 2011

